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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Legislative Assembly of the Province of Manitoba

We have audited the summary financial statements of the Province of Manitoba (the Province), which 
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at March 31, 2021, and the consolidated 
statement of revenue and expense, consolidated statement of accumulated deficit, consolidated 
statement of changes in net debt and consolidated statement of cash flow for the year then ended, and 
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matters described in the section of 
our report, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated financial position of the Province as at March 31, 2021, and the consolidated results of 
its operations, consolidated changes in its net debt, and its consolidated cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards (PSAS).  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 

 section of our report. We are independent of the Province in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the summary financial 
statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our qualified opinion. 

Effective November 6, 2020, the Province amended . Based on the 
definition of control in PSAS, the amendments resulted in the Province no longer controlling the Workers 
Compensation Board (WCB). In our opinion, prior to the amendments, the Province controlled the WCB 
based on the definition of control in PSAS.  PSAS requires the Province to include the WCB’s financial 
position and results of operations in the summary financial statements while they were controlled, up to 
November 6, 2020. As of November 6, 2020, PSAS requires the Province to remove the WCB’s net 
financial assets by expensing them in the statement of operations.  
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However, the Province has not included WCB’s financial position and results of operations since the year 
ended March 31, 2018. In this respect, the summary financial statements are not in accordance with 
PSAS. 

Had the Province addressed this PSAS departure; 

the March 31, 2020 equity in government business enterprises would have increased by        
$647 million, accumulated deficit and net debt would each have decreased by $647 million, the 
net income from government business enterprises would have increased by $48 million, other 
comprehensive income would have decreased by $33 million, and the annual surplus would 
have increased by $48 million for the year ended March 31, 2020. 
the March 31, 2021 net income from government business enterprises would have increased by 
$4 million, and other comprehensive income would have decreased by $39 million to reflect the 
WCB’s results of operations up to November 6, 2020. On November 6, 2020, the Province would 
have decreased the net financial assets by $612 million and increased the disposal of equity in 
government business enterprises expense by $612 million to remove the WCB’s assets that 
were no longer under their control. The net result of the above adjustments on the annual deficit 
for the year ended March 31, 2021 would have been an increase of $608 million. 

The Province has not included the financial position and results of operations of the Manitoba 
Agricultural Services Corporation’s (MASC) Production Insurance Trust and the Hail Insurance Trust 
(the Trusts) in the summary financial statements for the years ended March 31, 2021 and March 31, 
2020. 

In our opinion, the Trusts are assets under the control of the Province, and the financial position and 
results of operations should be consolidated into the summary financial statements for the years 
ended March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2020. In this respect, the summary financial statements are not in 
accordance with PSAS, which require that the Province account for all assets under its control. 

Had the Province included the Trusts’ financial position and results of operations in the summary 
financial statements, the current year cash and cash equivalents would have increased by $594 million, 
the accounts payable, accrued charges, provisions and unearned revenue would have increased by 
$0.5 million, and accumulated deficit and net debt would each have decreased by $594 million, the 
Agriculture expenses would have decreased by $111 million, the investment income would have 
increased by $2 million, and the annual deficit would have decreased by $113 million. 

Had the Province included the Trusts’ financial position and results of operations in the summary 
financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020, the prior year cash and cash equivalents would 
have increased by $513 million, the accounts payable, accrued charges, provisions and unearned 
revenue would have increased by $33 million, accumulated deficit and net debt would each have 



decreased by $513 million, the Agriculture and Resource Development expenses would have increased 
by $19 million, the investment income would have increased by $9 million, and the annual surplus 
would have decreased by $10 million. 

Had the WCB and MASC Trust departures from PSAS been corrected, the Province would have an 
annual deficit of $2,612 million in the current year, and for the prior year would have an annual surplus of 
$43 million. The accumulated deficit would be $12,304 million at March 31, 2021, and $9,864 million at 
March 31, 2020. 

Combined impact on the annual deficit or surplus 

2021 
($ million) 

2020 
($ million) 

Annual (deficit) surplus as presented (2,117) 5 

Operating (loss) surplus of Workers Compensation Board (608) 48 

Net income (loss) of MASC trusts 113 (10) 

Annual (deficit) surplus in accordance with Canadian 
public sector accounting standards 

(2,612) 43 

Combined impact on the ending accumulated deficit 

2021 
($ million) 

2020 
($ million) 

Accumulated deficit as presented (12,898) (11,024) 

Equity of Workers Compensation Board Nil 647

MASC Trust Assets 594 513

Accumulated deficit in accordance with Canadian public 
sector accounting standards 

(12,304) (9,864)
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The Province is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Province of 
Manitoba Annual Report and Public Accounts (the Annual Report), but does not include the summary 
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon, which we obtained prior to the date of this 
auditor’s report. 

Our qualified opinion on the summary financial statements does not cover the other information and we 
do not and will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the summary financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the summary financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of 
this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. As described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section above, the Province 
has not accounted for WCB and the MASC Trusts in accordance with PSAS. We have concluded that 
the Annual Report is materially misstated for the same reasons with respect to these amounts and other 
items in the Annual Report affected by these departures from PSAS. 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the summary financial 
statements in accordance with PSAS, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of summary financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Province’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, meaning that the Province will continue in operation, and will be able to 
realize assets and discharge liabilities and meet its statutory obligations in the normal course of 
operations for the foreseeable future. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Province’s financial reporting 
process. With respect to the Province, those charged with governance refers to the Minister of Finance. 
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the summary financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these summary financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the summary financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Province’s internal control. 

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Province’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the summary financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Province to cease to continue as a going concern. 

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the summary financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the summary financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
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Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Province to express an opinion on the summary financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and 
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
related safeguards. 

Winnipeg, Manitoba 
September 20, 2021 

Tyson Shtykalo, CPA, CA 
Auditor General 
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. Pension Plans (continued) 

withdraws money from the RRSP, while an active member of the Legislative Assembly, the 

(ii)

who elect to participate in the plan. 

th birthday that the 

liabilities. Any surplus of plan assets over the pension obligation can be used by the Government 

to reduce future contributions. 

(iii)

Manitoba Provincial Court Judges and Masters are members of the Civil Service Superannuation 

introduced by Judicial Compensation Committees, and the formula pension available under The 

Civil Service Superannuation Act (CSSA) as described above in Note 6A. 

The supplemental pension is generally based upon an accrual rate of 3.0% for each year of 

CSSA. The combined total of the Judges’ Supplemental Pension and Civil Service Superannuation 

funded by the Government. 

(iv)

Agency, who transferred to the Department of Families. 

obligation can be used by the Government to reduce future contributions. 
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6. Pension Plans (continued) 

D. OTHER PENSION PLANS 

(a)

(i) University of Manitoba Pension Plan 

The University of Manitoba administers The University of Manitoba Pension Plan (1993) and 

The University of Manitoba GFT Pension Plan (1986). These are trusteed pension plans. The 

statements. University of Manitoba Pension Plan (1993) is a money purchase plan with a 

9.0% of salary less an adjustment for the Canada Pension Plan during the year. 

The December 2019 funding valuation indicated that the University of Manitoba Pension Plan 

account balance, age at retirement, and the annuity factor determined by the plan actuary. 

contributions of active members and the University. The additional annual current service 

The unamortized net actuarial gains (losses) were determined on the basis of the 2019 

following the year of respective annual actuarial gains or losses arise. 

(ii) University of Winnipeg Pension Plan 
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6. Pension Plans (continued) 

(iii)  Brandon University Retirement Plan 

Brandon University administers the Brandon University Retirement Plan, which is a trusteed 

pension plan. The Trustees are responsible for the custody of the Plan’s assets and issuance 

of pensionable service, less 0.6% of CPP average earnings for each year of pensionable 

retiring after that date. 

The plan will continue to be subject to the going concern funding provisions of the Manitoba 

be completed in 2021. 

(b)

(i) The Winnipeg School Division Pension Fund for Employees Other Than Teachers 

1992) and is subject to the applicable regulations. 

pensionable salary and 2.0% of a member’s average salary over the pensionable salary, 

multiplied by a member’s years of pensionable service. The average salary is determined by 

112.4% of employee contributions. 
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6. Pension Plans (continued) 

(ii)

The St. James-Assiniboia School Division Retirement Plan for Non-teaching Employees is 

applicable regulations. 

employment earnings below CPP earnings and 2.0% of a member’s employment earnings 

earnings in the last 12 years of service. Effective July 1, 2014, employee contributions were 

earnings. The St. James-Assiniboia School Division matches employee contributions. 

(iii) Retirement Plan for Employees of Frontier School Division 

teaching employees. 

earnings, multiplied by a member’s years of credited service. The average employment 

matching employee contributions. The Frontier School Division is responsible for the balance 

(iv) School District of Mystery Lake Pension Plan 

shall contribute in accordance with the terms of the collective agreements such amounts as 

necessary to provide the future service pension for all members and to amortize any unfunded 

Effective July 1, 2013 employees contribute 5.0% of gross earnings. Prior to July 1, 2013 

E. GOVERNMENT BUSINESS ENTERPRISES 

Corporation became a matching employer. As a result, they no longer recognize a pension liability in 

their statements. The net pension liabilities for the other GBEs are disclosed in Schedule 3. 
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7. CONTINGENCIES 
A. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

i) Legal Actions

The Government is named in various legal actions. No provision has been made at March 31, 

amount of the liability cannot be reasonably estimated. 

ii)

funding to, Canadian Blood Services (CBS), which operates the Canadian blood system. The 

the provision. 

CBS and CBSE have entered into an agreement whereby the members have agreed to provide 

million. The members have each issued an indemnity to CBSE on their pro rata share of the 

The Government is not aware of any proceedings that could lead to a claim against it under the 

indemnity given to CBSE. 

iii)

Manitoba to transfer administration and control of up to 1,144,331 acres of Crown Land (Selections) 

of Manitoba. As of March 31, 2021, Manitoba Entitlement First Nations have collectively Selected 

2021, Manitoba has transferred administration and control of 676,133 acres of Crown Land and 

20,317 acres of Manitoba interests in Other Land to Canada for reserve creation. The Crown Land 

and Manitoba interests in Other Land have been transferred in accordance with paragraph 11 of 

the Natural Resources Transfer Agreement (Schedule to Constitution Act, 1930). The transfers 

include mines and minerals and other interests impliedly reserved under The Crown Lands Act, 

as well as all other interests of Manitoba in the lands. 
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7. Contingencies (continued) 

iv) 

Manitoba Hydro has a mitigation program in place to address past, present, and ongoing adverse 

effects of past hydroelectric development. There are other mitigation issues, the outcomes of 

which are not determinable at this time. 

Manitoba Hydro has contracted with an independent third-party pipeline company to increase 

transportation capacity, which includes a commitment to pay its share of the pre-license 

development costs associated with the contract, in the event that the federal license is not granted 

B. LOAN GUARANTEES 

mortgages and securities held by others. Debt guaranteed by the Government is guaranteed, as to 

principal and interest, until the debt is matured or redeemed. The authorized limits and the outstanding 

 ($ millions) 

Authorized 

Limit 

2021 

Actual 

2020 

Actual 

Canadian Museum for Human Rights 25 3 4 

Manitoba Agricultural Services Corporation (Note 7B.i) - 65 68 

Manitoba Housing and Renewal Corporation (Note 7B.ii) 20 9 11 

Manitoba Student Aid Program 20 - -

Other 17 4 4 

Total guarantees outstanding - 127 116 

the accounts. 

Note 7B.i) Manitoba Agricultural Services Corporation 

Program General Terms and Conditions 

Operating Credit Guarantees for Agriculture Each participating lending institution is guaranteed 

operatives. 
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7. Contingencies (continued) 

Program General Terms and Conditions 

Guarantees 

Each association’s lending institution is guaranteed 

Guarantees are based on 25% of the original 

principal amount of each individual loan, with no 

Rural Entrepreneur Assistance Program Each participating lender is guaranteed up to 80% 

of the loan made to small rural non-agricultural 

This program was discontinued as of April 1, 2019 

with outstanding guarantees in run-off status. 

Note 7B.ii) Manitoba Housing and Renewal Corporation 

Manitoba Housing and Renewal Corporation has authority to guarantee the repayment of various 

mortgages and issue various letters of credit, which guarantee the terms and conditions of land 

Note 7B.iii) University of Winnipeg 

($ millions) 

Muse Flats (209 Colony) 29

Broadway Commons (167 Colony)  17 

C. GOVERNMENT BUSINESS ENTERPRISE GUARANTEES 

As at March 31, 2021, Manitoba Hydro has outstanding Manitoba Hydro-Electric Board Bonds amounting 

Manitoba Hydro provides guarantees to counterparties for natural gas purchases. At March 31, 2021, 

related transactions with maturities until 2049. 

ongoing monitoring procedures, the Corporation has concluded that a provision for such contingencies 

does not need to be established at this time. 
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8. CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS 
The Government has entered into a number of multi-year contracts and agreements for the delivery of 

satisfy the contractual obligations, by the year that it is anticipated that the terms of the contract will be met, 

($ millions) 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
and

thereafter 

 Total 

Government Organizations and components 

Service contracts 298 119 70 58 89 116 750

Rental of capital assets 96 70 55 48 38 250 557

1,786

Other contracts 41 13 11 4 1 - 70

Government Business Enterprises 34 36 27 23 20 30 170 

Total 1,065 388 305 276 296 1,003 3,333

GOVERNMENT ORGANIZATIONS 

Government organizations have entered into contractual arrangements related to construction projects 

reasonably estimated. 

GOVERNMENT BUSINESS ENTERPRISE CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS 

future purchases of wind, natural gas (including transportation and storage contracts) and electricity. 

9. DEBT SERVICING 

10. AMOUNTS HELD IN TRUST 
Amounts held in trust are assets over which the Manitoba Legislature has no power of appropriation. These 

the amounts and administers them according to trust or other agreed-upon arrangements. As at March 31, 
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Valuation ($ millions) 

Method 2021 

Actual 

2020 

Actual 

Various Universities and Colleges cost 549 541

The Public Guardian and Trustee of Manitoba various 301 277

Manitoba Development Corporation cost 39 54

Other Fiduciary Trust various 60 58

Custodial trust held by Departments various 19 19

Suitor’s Money Act cost  9 15

1,858 1,732

10. Amounts Held in Trust (continued) 

  

  

   

   

   

  

 

The Public Guardian and Trustee of Manitoba administers the estates and trusts of mentally disabled 

persons, deceased persons, and infants. The estates and trusts under administration are in the form of 

be used to pay program indemnities to participating producers. Funding for the trusts will be provided 

based on insurance premiums collected by MASC. 

includes three plans to provide life insurance, accidental death and disablement insurance, and dependents 

insurance for eligible employees and retired employees (and their eligible dependents) of the Government 

Other Fiduciary Trust funds are interest bearing deposits which are pooled with the Government’s 

funds in the form of bonds and other securities. 

11. RISK MANAGEMENT AND THE USE OF DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
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Government does not use derivatives for speculative purposes. 

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK 

Derivative contracts hedge the underlying debt by matching the critical terms to achieve effectiveness. 

The policy has effectively hedged the foreign currency debt principal and interest payments in relation to 

general purpose debt. 

INTEREST RATE RISK 

and eliminating debt incurred on behalf of Manitoba Hydro, the structure of the debt as at March 31, 2021 

CREDIT RISK 

into contractual agreements (“master agreements”) with all of its counterparties. As at March 31, 2021 the 

LIQUIDITY RISK 
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DERIVATIVE PORTFOLIO 

($ millions) 

2021 

Actual

2020 

Actual  

Notional

Value 

 Fair 

Value 

Notional 

Value 

Fair 

Value 

Notional amounts of derivatives contracts represent the contractual amounts to which a rate or price is 

Fair values of the swap agreements are the estimated amount that the Government would receive or 

agreements were terminated. 

12. SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS WITH GOVERNMENT BUSINESS ENTERPRISES 
Transactions with GBEs are not eliminated for purposes of summary reporting because they are reported 

statements include the following transactions between the Government and GBEs, which have not been 

A. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND LOANS AND ADVANCES 

Amounts receivable includes receivables from GBEs as reported in Schedule 1 to the summary 

B. INVESTMENTS 

ranging from 2021 to 2052 and interest rates ranging from 3.0% to 7.0%. 

C. WATER POWER RENTALS 

Act. Rentals are paid to the Government for the use of water resources in the operation of Manitoba 

Hydro’s hydroelectric generating stations. 
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D. FEES ON GOVERNMENT GUARANTEES 

their debt that is guaranteed by the Government. The fees are included in the Consolidated Statement 

E. DRIVER LICENSING OPERATIONS 

The fees received by the Government are included in the Consolidated Statement of Revenue and 

F. OTHER REVENUE 

payment of annual licence fees and levies. 

13. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS
($ millions)

 
 

2021

Actual

 2020

Actual

 

  

Severance 468 463 

Long term disability income plan 41 40 

567 552

The severance liability is valued using discount rates that range from 2.60% to 5.75% and salary increase 

rates that range from 1.82% to 3.75%. Unamortized actuarial gains and losses are amortized over the 

estimated average remaining service life (EARSL). Periods range from 7.8 to 15 years. As of March 31, 

The long term disability income plan is valued using a discount rate of 3.30%. Actuarial gains and losses 

prepared using a discount rate of 5.75% and a salary increase rate of 3.25%. Actuarial gains and losses 

are recognized as income as they occur. 
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14. EXPENSES IN EXCESS OF LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY  

million in supplementary estimates related to the departments. The original budget estimate amounts plus 

PART A – OPERATING EXPENSE: 

($ millions) 

Central Services 91  

Conservation and Climate 177  

Employee Pensions and Other Costs 5  

Emergency and Other Appropriations 31 

15. LIABILITY FOR CONTAMINATED SITES 
The Province reports environmental liabilities related to the management and remediation of contaminated 

where an assessment has not been conducted. 

contaminants that were left on site. The liability also includes sites associated with highway maintenance, 

other protected areas. 

heavy metals, polychlorinated biphenyl and other organic contaminants. The sources of contamination 

multiple sources of contamination. 

Manitoba Hydro will incur future costs associated with the assessment and remediation of contaminated 

lands and facilities for the phase-out and destruction of polychlorinated biphenyl contaminated mineral oil 

retirement obligations, cannot be made at this time. No provision has been included for these items as of 

March 31, 2021. 
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16. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 

include transactions and balances eliminated on consolidation and those with entities accounted for under 

Related party transactions are disclosed if they occurred at a value different from that which would 

have been arrived if the parties were unrelated and the transaction has a material effect on the summary 

For the year ended March 31, 2021, there were no material related party transactions or balances 

to disclose. 

17. TRANSFERS TO THE WINNIPEG FOUNDATION 

controlled by the Province and therefore are not consolidated as part of the GRE. The total transfers have 
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Trust Balances at The Winnipeg Foundation (listed at cost) 

$ (millions) 

2021

Actual

 2020

Actual

 

  

Agriculture and Resource Development 

Conservation Trust Fund 102 102 

Manitoba Habitat Heritage Corporation Fund Foundation 15 15 

Hunter Education and Firearms Safety 2 -

Conservation and Climate 

Families 

Child Care Sustainability Fund 2 2 

Manitoba Accessibility Fund  20 -

Municipal Relations 

Trails Manitoba Endowment Fund  8 8 

Endow Manitoba Fund  10 10 

Manitoba Trails Strategic Fund – Rural 3 -

Sport, Culture and Heritage 

Signature Museum Sustainability Funds 10 10 

Manitoba Heritage Trust Program 5 5 

Military Memorials Conservation Fund  2 2 

The Bay Building Heritage Preservation Fund 25  -

388 290
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18. CONTRACTUAL RIGHTS 
The Government is involved in various contracts and agreements arising in the ordinary course of business. 

This results in contractual rights to economic resources, leading to both assets and revenue in the future. 

($ millions) 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 

and 

thereafter 

Total 

Federal transfers - Capital 72 40 22 9 1 4 148

Federal transfers - Operating 80 17 1 1 1 - 100

Lease and rental agreements 140 138 136 135 135 188 872

Other 14 14 15 15 16 327 401

Total 306 209 174 160 153 519 1,521

       

      

       

       

       

The contractual rights for water power rentals included in Lease and rental agreements has been estimated 

cottagers included in Lease and rental agreements have been calculated based on the current year revenue 

The Province is also entitled to receive investment revenue from various investments held in irrevocable 

the rate of return earned on the investments. 

energy available during lowest water conditions. 

19. ADJUSTMENTS TO ACCUMULATED DEFICIT 

tangible capital assets was recently concluded and effective April 1, 2019, the Government has made an 

for the year ended March 31, 2020 were nil. 
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20. IMPACT OF COVID-19 PANDEMIC 

price per dose of vaccine could not be shared with the Province. 

The pandemic has increased measurement uncertainty as noted in Note 1.E Measurement uncertainty. 

the remote accessing of information technology systems. 

pandemic on the province are ongoing and cannot be fully determined at this time. 

21. RESTATED BUDGET 

as presented to the Legislative Assembly on March 19, 2020 and restated for comparability to the current 

year results. 

Refer to Schedule 10 for further details. The restated amounts do not include other authorizations granted 

22. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 
On January 5, 2021, the Government announced organizational changes that resulted in certain functions 
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SCHEDULE 1 
SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF AMOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
As at March 31, 2021 
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SCHEDULE 2 
SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF LOANS AND ADVANCES 
As at March 31, 2021 
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SCHEDULE 5
SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS PAYABLE, ACCRUED
CHARGES, PROVISIONS AND UNEARNED REVENUE 
As at March 31, 2021 



SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 109 

S
C

H
E

D
U

LE
 6

 
S

U
M

M
A

R
Y

 F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
 S

TA
T

E
M

E
N

T
S

 
C

O
N

S
O

L
ID

A
T

E
D

 S
TA

T
E

M
E

N
T

 O
F

 P
E

N
S

IO
N

 L
IA

B
IL

IT
Y

 
A

s 
a

t M
a

rc
h

 3
1,

 2
0

21
 



PROVINCE OF MANITOBA ANNUAL REPORT AND PUBLIC ACCOUNTS 2020–21110

S
C

H
E

D
U

LE
 6

 (c
o

nt
’d

) 

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 F

IN
A

N
C

IA
L

 S
TA

T
E

M
E

N
T

S
 

C
O

N
S

O
L

ID
A

T
E

D
 S

TA
T

E
M

E
N

T
 O

F
 P

E
N

S
IO

N
 L

IA
B

IL
IT

Y
 

A
s 

a
t M

a
rc

h
 3

1,
 2

0
21

 



SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 111 

S
C

H
E

D
U

LE
 7

 
S

U
M

M
A

R
Y

 F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
 S

TA
T

E
M

E
N

T
S

 
C

O
N

S
O

L
ID

A
T

E
D

 S
TA

T
E

M
E

N
T

 O
F

 T
A

N
G

IB
L

E
 C

A
P

IT
A

L
 A

S
S

E
T

S
 

F
o

r 
th

e
 Y

e
a

r 
E

n
d

e
d

 M
a

rc
h 

31
, 2

0
21

 



PROVINCE OF MANITOBA ANNUAL REPORT AND PUBLIC ACCOUNTS 2020–21112 

SCHEDULE 8 
GOVERNMENT ORGANIZATIONS, COMPONENTS AND BUSINESS ENTERPRISES
COMPRISING THE GOVERNMENT REPORTING ENTITY 
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SCHEDULE 8 (cont’d) 

GOVERNMENT ORGANIZATIONS, COMPONENTS AND BUSINESS ENTERPRISES
COMPRISING THE GOVERNMENT REPORTING ENTITY 
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SCHEDULE 10 
SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
RESTATED BUDGET 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2021 



Information Provided 
Under Statutory
Requirement 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2021 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Legislative Assembly of the Province of Manitoba 

We have audited the accompanying Fiscal Stabilization Account “Rainy Day Fund” Statement of 
Transfers and Account Balance of the Province of Manitoba (“the Province”) for the year ended 
March 31, 2021 (“the statement”). 

In our opinion, the financial information in the statement of the Province of Manitoba for the year 
ended March 31, 2021 is prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with Note 2 to the 
statement. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Statement section of our report. We are independent of the Province in accordance 
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the statement in Canada, and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

We draw attention to Note 2 to the statement, which describes the basis of accounting. The 
statement is prepared to assist the Province to meet the requirements of Section 65(1)(b) of 

. As a result, the statement may not be suitable for another purpose. 
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

We draw attention to the fact that the supplementary information included in The Schedule of 
Supplementary Information does not form part of the financial statements. We have not audited or 
reviewed this supplementary information and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion, a review 
conclusion or any other form of assurance on this supplementary information. 

Office: 204. 945.3790 | 500-330 Portage Avenue | Winnipeg, Manitoba R3C 0C4 | oag.mb.ca 



Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Province of Manitoba Annual Report and Public Accounts (“annual 
report”), but does not include the statement and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the statement does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the statement, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the statement or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

We obtained the annual report prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, based on the work we 
have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, 
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Management is responsible for the preparation of this statement in accordance with Note 2, and 
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
statement that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Province’s financial reporting 
process. 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the statement as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this statement. 

2 



As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we 
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We 
also: 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the statement, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Province’s internal control. 

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Winnipeg, Manitoba 
September 20, 2021 

Tyson Shtykalo, CPA, CA 
Auditor General 

3 
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www.manitoba.ca 

October 23, 2020 

NORTHERN AFFAIRS FUND 

MANAGEMENT REPORT 

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of management and have 
been prepared in accordance with the Canadian public sector accounting standards as 
stated in the notes to the financial statements. In management’s opinion, the financial 
statements have been properly prepared within reasonable limits of materiality, 
incorporating management’s best judgement regarding all necessary estimates and all 
other data available. 

Management maintains internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that the 
financial information is reliable and accurate, and that the assets of the Fund are 
properly safeguarded. 

The responsibility of the Auditor General for Manitoba is to express an independent 
professional opinion as to whether the financial statements are presented fairly in all 
material respects. 

The Executive Financial Officer has reviewed and approved these financial statements. 

On Behalf of Management 

Original signed by Amber Zhang 

Ms. Amber Zhang
Executive Director of Finance and Administration
Department of Indigenous and Northern Relations



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Minister of Indigenous and Northern Relations 
To the Legislative Assembly of Manitoba 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Northern Affairs Fund, which comprise the statement 
of financial position as at March 31, 2016, and the statements of operations and accumulated surplus/ (deficit), change 
in net debt and cash flow for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information. 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
Canadian public sector accounting standards and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Northern 
Affairs Fund as at March 31, 2016, and the results of its operations, changes in net debt and its cash flows for the year 
then ended, in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

Original signed by 

Office of the Auditor General 
October 23, 2020 
Winnipeg, Manitoba 

Office: 204. 945.3790 | 500-330 Portage Avenue | Winnipeg, Manitoba R3C 0C4 | oag.mb.ca 
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NORTHERN AFFAIRS FUND 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at March 31, 2016 

2016 
(Restated, Note 15) 

2015 

Financial Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 3) $ 14,554,846 $ 13,447,428 

Accounts receivable (Notes 4, 5, 10) 1,906,547 2,294,581 

Total Financial Assets 16,461,393 15,742,009 

Liabilities 

Accounts payable (Notes 6, 10) 2,278,910 2,653,796 

Loans payable (Note 7) 26,961,070 23,452,858 

Total Liabilities 29,239,980 26,106,654 

Net Debt (12,778,587) (10,364,645) 

Non-Financial Assets 

Construction in progress (Note 8) 2,848,290 4,122,317 

Total Non-Financial Assets 2,848,290 4,122,317 

Accumulated Deficit $ (9,930,297) $ (6,242,328) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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NORTHERN AFFAIRS FUND 
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND ACCUMULATED 
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)
For the Year Ended March 31, 2016 

2016 

(Restated, Note 15) 

2015 

Revenues 
Aboriginal and Northern Communities $ 12,545,228 $ 13,257,926 
Aboriginal and Northern Affairs 686,246 1,094,570 
Department of Municipal Government 148,368 148,368 
Department of Finance 2,869,309 2,869,310 
Department of Jobs and Economy 45,796 146,279 
Federal Gas Tax 471,818 479,711 
Cottage Subdivision Funds 568,487 552,836 
Manitoba Hydro 100,000 -
Specific Purpose - Various 291,525 161,480 
Cottage Administration Fees 22,578 23,077 
Tax Revenue (Sch 2, NTRA) 2,385,584 2,359,370 
Total Revenue 20,134,939 21,092,927 

Expenses 
Aboriginal and Northern Communities 16,729,644 23,492,879 
Aboriginal and Northern Affairs 787,982 1,317,432 
Department of Municipal Government 132,311 136,832 
Department of Finance 2,794,682 2,775,962 
Department of Jobs and Economy 43,472 47,754 
Federal Gas Tax - -
Cottage Subdivision Funds 482,652 537,569 
Manitoba Hydro 188,319 83,461 
Specific Purpose - Various 472,242 493,131 
Cottage Administration Fees 20,697 10,250 
Tax Administered Expenses (Sch 2, NTRA) 2,170,907 2,260,564 
Total Expenses 23,822,908 31,155,834 

Annual Deficit (3,687,969) (10,062,907) 
Accumulated Surplus, Beginning of Year - as previously 
reported 807,969 5,940,502 

Correction of an Error (Note 15) (7,050,297) (2,119,923) 

Accumulated Surplus/(Deficit), Beginning of Year - as restated (6,242,328) 3,820,579 

Accumulated Deficit, End of Year $ (9,930,297) $ (6,242,328) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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NORTHERN AFFAIRS FUND 
STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN NET DEBT 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2016 

2016 
(Restated, Note 15) 

2015 

Annual Deficit $ (3,687,969) $ (10,062,907) 

Non-Financial Assets 

New construction costs  (Note 8) 2,940,907 4,456,302 

Closed projects (Note 8) (4,214,934) (10,261,747) 

(1,274,027) (5,805,445)

Decrease in Net Debt (2,413,942) (4,257,462)

Net Debt, Beginning of Year (10,364,645) (6,107,183)

Net Debt, End of Year $ (12,778,587) $ (10,364,645) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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NORTHERN AFFAIRS FUND 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2016 

2016 
(Restated, Note 15) 

2015 

Operating Activities 

Annual Deficit $ (3,687,969) $ (10,062,907) 
Change in: 

Accounts receivable 388,034 85,358 
Accounts payable (374,887) (724,460) 

Cash used in operating activities (3,674,822) (10,702,009) 

Capital Activities 

Increase in construction in progress 1,274,027 5,805,445 

Cash provided by capital activities 1,274,027 5,805,445 

Financing Activities 

Increase in loans payable 3,508,213 5,754,153 

Cash provided by financial transactions 3,508,213 5,754,153 

Increase in Cash 1,107,418 857,589 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 13,447,428 12,589,839 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year (Note 3) $ 14,554,846 $ 13,447,428 

Supplemental Cash Flow Information 

Interest Received 181,636 181,123 
Interest Paid 763,252 562,010 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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SCHEDULE 1 
NORTHERN AFFAIRS FUND 
SPECIFIC PURPOSE FUNDS AND ACCUMULATED DEFICIT 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2016 

Balance 
(Restated, Note 15) 

31-Mar-15 

Revenue Expense SPF Transfers 
Transfer from 

Taxation 
Fund Account 

(Note 10) 

Balance 

31-Mar-16 

Aboriginal and Northern Communities 
Community Council Funds (Note 11) $ (13,935,805) $ 11,933,424 $ 15,825,528 $ 42,728 $ (17,785,181) 
Community Capital Support (373,507) 611,804 904,116 (665,819) 

(14,309,312) 12,545,228 16,729,644 42,728 - (18,451,000) 

Cottage Administration Fees 84,406 22,578 20,697 - - 86,287 
Aboriginal and Northern Affairs 
Department Revenue/Transfer Payments - 554,466 554,466 -
RBC Payment Distribution 289 2,200 1,324 1,165 
Firefighters Insurance 82,018 21,398 21,398 82,018 
Fire Inspections 40,710 40,710 
CDO Pilot Project 64,681 473 64,208 
Fire Trucks and Equipment 134,247 50 50 134,247 
Fire Training 91,727 21,465 70,262 
Sturgeon Landing Road 20,788 20,788 
Northern Youth Empowerment Initiative 84,956 84,956 
Community Ergonomics 22,930 22,930 
Northern Consultation Board (263) 263 -
Northern Ministers Development Forum 164,629 15,000 31,558 148,071 
Workplace Safety and Health Training 14,427 33,135 19,971 1,263 
Workplace Safety and Health Equipment 1,585 735 850 
Constable Program 25,691 25,691 
Community Clerk Workshop 24,413 5,993 18,420 
Water Operator Certification 17,432 2,335 2,160 17,607 
Incorporation 285,253 285,253 
Water Treatment Plant Assessments 37,564 37,564 
Surveys 10,249 10,249 
Resource Management Boards 171,658 10,000 39,550 142,108 
Resource Management Boards Wildlife Projects 1,987 26,332 6,608 21,711 
Hollow Water Waste Disposal Site 60,632 54,465 54,231 60,866 
911 Emergency Services 58,913 1,490 57,423 
North Central Summer Students 13,500 13,346 6,088 6,242 

1,430,016 686,246 787,982 26,322 - 1,354,602 

Department of Municipal Government 
Municipal Program Grant - 148,368 132,311 (16,057) -

Department of Finance 
General Assistance Grant 262,036 2,869,309 2,794,682 (9,003) 327,660 

Department of Jobs and Economy 
Building Independence Program (60) 45,796 43,472 2,264 

Federal Gas Tax 2,641,918 471,818 - (15,868) 3,097,868 

Cottage Subdivision Funds 
Northern Affairs Levy 717,664 568,487 482,652 803,499 

Manitoba Hydro 
Nelson River Archaeological Survey 28,202 19,009 9,193 
Pimichikamak Archaeological Project 168,496 100,000 74,227 194,269 
SWAP 2006 194,430 95,083 99,347 

391,128 100,000 188,319 - - 302,809 

Specific Purpose - Various 
Nelson House Claims Account 11,507 57 11,564 
Sturgeon Management Program 30,413 170,500 164,786 36,127 
Winnipegosis Lake Water Study 77,500 77,500 
Cross Lake Negotiations 6,965 6,965 
Northern Healthy Foods Initiative 48,418 74,199 109,612 13,005 
Treaty Land Entitlement 195,939 40,000 11,513 224,426 
OPCN/CUFMA 191,497 40,103 151,394 
MMF Historical Research/Tripartite 78,217 22,624 55,593 
Consultation Unit 45,163 45,163 
Property Tax Enhancement (Note 10) 291,799 6,769 123,604 (28,122) 78,174 225,016 

977,418 291,525 472,242 (28,122) 78,174 846,753 

Accumulated Deficit $ (7,804,786) $ 17,749,355 $ 21,652,001 $- $ 78,174 $ (11,629,258) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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SCHEDULE 2 
NORTHERN AFFAIRS FUND 
NET TAX REVENUES ADMINISTERED AND 
ACCUMULATED SURPLUS 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2016 

2016 2015 

Tax Revenues 

Taxation levies $ 1,463,624 $ 1,464,458 

Grants in lieu of taxes 701,003 700,676 

Tax penalties 157,194 135,074 

Rentals - Hay and Grazing 62,943 57,568 

Other 820 1,594 

Total Tax Revenues 2,385,584 2,359,370 

Administered Expenses 

Frontier School Division special levy 1,069,990 1,073,553 

Public Schools Finance Board – education support  levy 474,424 471,083 

Municipal levy 338,239 462,674 

Hay and Grazing leases 25,008 23,441 

Department of Municipal Government 50,916 51,002 

Budgeted allowance for doubtful accounts 205,281 167,164 

Other 7,049 11,647 

Total Administered Expenses 2,170,907 2,260,564 

Net Tax Revenue Administered 214,677 98,806 

Accumulated Surplus at Beginning of Year 1,562,458 1,473,459 

Transfer to Specific Purpose Funds Account (Note 10) (78,174) (9,807) 

Accumulated Surplus at End of Year $ 1,698,961 $ 1,562,458 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2016 

1. Purpose of the Organization 

The purpose of the Northern Affairs Fund (the Fund) is to administer trust funds on behalf of the 
designated communities and administer the property tax system within the jurisdiction of the Department 
of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs (as of the audit report date they report to the Department of Indigenous 
and Northern Relations) in compliance with The Northern Affairs Act. 

a) Specific Purpose FundsAccount 

Used to account for all monies advanced to the Minister of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs to provide 
financial services to community councils in northern areas of Manitoba. 

b) Taxation Fund Account 

Levies property and business taxes based on real property assessments and remits the tax requirements 
to school divisions and The Public Schools Finance Board. Taxes collected for local purposes in the 
communities are remitted to the community councils when collected. 

2. Summary of Significant AccountingPolicies 

a) Basis of Accounting 

The financial statements of the Fund are prepared by management in accordance with Canadian public 
sector accounting standards established by the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) of the Chartered 
Professional Accountants of Canada. 

b) Revenues and Expenses 

Revenue and expenses are recognized in the period in which the transaction or events occurred. Revenue 
and expenses are recorded on an accrual basis, except when the accruals cannot be determined with a 
reasonable degree of certainty or when their estimation is impractical. 

Interest revenue earned on short-term deposits is recognized in the period in which the transaction 
occurred and recorded on an accrual basis. 

c) Government Transfers 

Government transfers are recognized in the Fund’s financial statements as expenses or revenues in the 
period that the events giving rise to the transfer occurred as long as the transfer is authorized, eligibility 
criteria, if any, have been met by the recipient, and a reasonable estimate of the amount can be made. 

d) Construction in Progress 

Construction in Progress represents purchased or constructed assets and is recorded at cost. When the 
asset is ready to be put into use for the community, the asset is authorized as completed and the 
project is closed. Subsequently the closed project/asset is transferred to the community by clearing 
through the Community Council Funds specific purpose account. 
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NORTHERN AFFAIRS FUND 
Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d) 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2016 

e) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash and short-term deposits with maturities of three months or less 
from the deposit date and are held for meeting short-term commitments rather than for investing. 

f) Financial Instruments 

Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories; (a) fair value; or (b) cost 
or amortized cost. Financial instruments including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and 
other receivables – Province of Manitoba, accounts payable and loans payable – Province of Manitoba are 
recorded at cost. 

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recorded in accumulated surplus as 
re-measurement gains and losses until recognized. Upon disposition of the financial instruments, the 
cumulative re-measurement gains and losses are reclassified to the statement of operations. 

As at March 31, 2016, the Fund does not have any financial instruments measured at fair value. Gains and 
losses on financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in the statement of 
operations in the period the gain or loss occurs. 

The Fund did not incur any re-measurement gains and losses during the year ended March 31, 2016. 

g) Allowance for Uncollectible Taxes and Grants in Lieu of Taxes 

The allowance for uncollectible taxes and grants in lieu of taxes consists of tax cancellations relating to 
specific tax rolls and an estimate of uncollectible accounts based on the history of tax collections. 

h) Measurement Uncertainty 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and contingent 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from management’s best estimate as additional 
information becomes available in the future. 

i) Administrative Support 

The Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs provides administrative services at no charge to the 
Fund. The cost of these services for the year ended March 31, 2016 is estimated to be $283,359 (2015 -
$284,752) 

j) Budget 

The statement of operations and accumulated surplus and the statement of change in net financial assets 
do not present budgeted financial results due to the nature of the Northern Affairs Fund, which 
administers the funds on behalf of designated communities. 
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NORTHERN AFFAIRS FUND 
Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d) 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2016 

3.  Cash and Cash Equivalents 

2016 
(Restated, Note 15) 

2015 
Cash – Specific Purpose Funds $9,275,841 $7,679,960 
Cash – Taxation Fund 178,374 109,907 
Cash Equivalents 5,100,631 5,657,561 

$14,554,846 $13,447,428 

Cash equivalents are 90 day callable deposits with an interest rate in range of 0.50%-0.57% and within the 
Province of Manitoba trust account. Deposits are normally held to maturity, but if early withdrawal is 
required the interest rates are applicable up to date of withdrawal. 

4.  Accounts Receivable 

2016 
(Restated, Note 15)

2015 
Accounts Receivable - Province of Manitoba 
(Specific Purpose Funds) $307,786 $832,180 
Accounts Receivable - Taxation Fund (Note 5) 1,598,761 1,462,401 

$1,906,547 $2,294,581 

5.  Accounts Receivable-Taxation Fund 

2016 2015 
Taxes Receivable, End of year $2,953,244 $2,617,729 
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts (1,389,706) (1,193,420) 
Total Net Taxes Receivable, End of Year 1,563,538 1,424,309 

Other Receivables – Province of Manitoba 35,223 38,092 
$1,598,761 $1,462,401 

6.  Accounts Payable 

Accounts Payable - Specific Purpose Funds 2016 
(Restated, Note 15) 

2015 
Accrued Liabilities $507,232 $863,091
Interest Payable 752,670 611,805
Invested Community/Reserves Payable 1,019,008 1,178,857

Accounts Payable-Taxation Fund - 43
$2,278,910 $2,653,796 
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NORTHERN AFFAIRS FUND 
Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d) 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2016 

7. Loans Payable 

Loans from the Province of Manitoba include the following: 
2016 2015 

Province of Manitoba, interest 4.45%, repayable in 
annual instalments plus interest until May 31, 2019 
(Original draw November 30, 2009; $2,600,000) 

$1,152,140 $1,410,164 

Province of Manitoba, interest 4.45%, repayable in 
annual instalments plus interest until May 31, 2019 
(Original draw February 1, 2010; $1,950,000) 

857,612 1,049,676 

Province of Manitoba, interest 4.95%, repayable in 
annual instalments plus interest until May 31, 2020 
(Original draw May 11, 2010; $1,600,000) 

896,161 1,050,848 

Province of Manitoba, interest 4.00%, repayable in 
annual instalments plus interest until May 31, 2025 
(Original draw October 1, 2010; $4,100,000) 

2,926,309 3,168,334 

Province of Manitoba, interest 3.875%, repayable in 
annual instalments plus interest until May 31, 2020 
(Original draw March 31, 2011; $1,000,000) 

530,373 624,877 

Province of Manitoba, interest 3.00%, repayable in 
annual instalments plus interest until May 31, 2022 
(Original draw December 1, 2011; $2,000,000) 

1,326,980 1,495,139 

Province of Manitoba, interest 3.00%, repayable in 
annual instalments plus interest until May 31, 2022 
(Original draw March 31, 2012; $2,000,000) 

1,467,814 1,653,820 

Province of Manitoba, interest 4.25%, repayable in 
annual instalments plus interest until May 31, 2034 
(Original draw December 31, 2013; $6,000,000) 

5,803,681 6,000,000 

Province of Manitoba, interest 3.50%, repayable in 
annual instalments plus interest until May 31, 2035 
(Original draw December 31, 2014; $7,000,000) 

7,000,000 7,000,000 

Province of Manitoba, interest 3.75%, repayable in 
annual instalments plus interest until May 31, 2036 
(Original draw December 31, 2015; $5,000,000) 

5,000,000 -

$ 26,961,070 $23,452,858 
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NORTHERN AFFAIRS FUND 
Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d) 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2016 

Interest payable includes the following: 

$ 1,152,140 – 305 days, 4.45% $42,725 
$  857,612 – 305 days, 4.45% 31,803 
$  896,161 – 305 days, 4.95% 36,967 
$ 2,926,309 – 305 days, 4.00% 97,544 
$ 530,373 – 305 days, 3.875% 17,127 
$ 1,326,980 – 305 days, 3.00% 33,265 
$ 1,467,814 – 305 days, 3.00% 36,796 
$ 5,803,681 – 305 days, 4.25% 205,547 
$ 7,000,000 – 305 days, 3.50% 204,167 
$ 5,000,000 – 91 days, 3.75% 46,619 

$ 752,560 
Annual payments, made on May 31st, are as follows: 

Loan Principal Interest 
2016 $1,799,083 $925,210 
2017 2,042,750 963,272 
2018 2,123,225 882,796 
2019 2,206,941 799,080 
2020 1,734,378 712,093 
Subsequent Years 17,054,693 5,054,008 

$26,961,070 $9,336,459 

8. Construction in Progress 

(Restated, Note 15) 
2016 2015 

Balance, Beginning of Year – as previously reported $11,172,614 $12,047,685 
Correction of an Error (Note 15) (7,050,297) (2,119,923) 

Balance, Beginning of Year – as restated 4,122,317 9,927,762 
New Construction Costs 2,940,907 4,456,302 
Closed Projects (4,214,934) (10,261,747) 
Balance, End of Year – as restated $2,848,290 $4,122,317 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d) 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2016 

9. Northern Affairs Fund – Specific PurposeFunds 

The Northern Affairs Fund administers the following Specific Purpose Funds: 

Aboriginal and Northern Affairs Communities: 

Community Council Funds – The Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs provides funding to 
support communities in the Aboriginal and Northern Affairs jurisdiction for the operation, maintenance 
and construction of their municipal infrastructure. 

Community Capital Support – The Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs provides funding to 
satisfy principal and interest due on loans payable to the Province of Manitoba (community capital funding 
source). 

Cottage Administration Fees: 

Cottage Administration Fees – A portion of funds from the cottagers levy are set aside within the 
specific purpose fund to provide administrative support to cottage areas. 

Aboriginal and Northern Affairs: 

Departmental Revenue/Transfer Payments – Revenue received from a variety of sources by the 
Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs is transferred to the consolidated fund of the Province of 
Manitoba. 

RBC Payment Distribution – The Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs covers the costs for 
electronic bank transfer services for payroll cheques for communities and programs where funds are 
administered in trust. 

Firefighters Insurance - The Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs provides to community 
volunteer firefighters basic loss of life, accident and sickness benefits while on duty or participating in 
training. The Department provides this insurance at no cost to the community or volunteer firefighter 
through the Volunteer Firemen’s Insurance Services (VFIS). 

Fire Inspections - The Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs is responsible for completing 
inspections in all communities as per the Fire Safety Inspections Regulation of The Fires Prevention and 
Emergency Response Act. 

CDO Pilot Project – The Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs provides funding to support 
community based economic strategy development. 

Fire Trucks and Equipment – The Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs and community councils 
provide funding to enhance equipment/fire trucks in support of the FireProgram. 

Fire Training – The Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs provides funding for community fire 
training requirements identified as a result of the Fire Program Review. 

Sturgeon Landing Road – The Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs provides funding to maintain 
the Sturgeon Landing Road and recovers 50% of the costs from the Saskatchewan Provincial Government. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d) 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2016 

Northern Youth Empowerment Initiative – The Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs provides 
funding and program support to youth-focused programs or projects in Northern Manitoba. 

Community Ergonomics – The Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs provides funding as per 
Workplace Safety and Health Regulation 217/2006 to assist community councils with developing a 
Community Ergonomic Plan (CEP). 

Northern Consultation Board – The Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs provides funding to 
assist the Board with reviewing/addressing matters and providing recommendations concerning any 
proposals with respect to the incorporation process. 

Northern Ministers Development Forum – The Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs and other 
provincial governments provide funding for a special project on Maximizing the Economic and Social 
Impacts from Major Projects in theNorth. 

Workplace Safety and Health Training – The Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs provides 
funding for community workplace safety and health program training requirements. 

Workplace Safety and Health Equipment – The Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs provides 
funding for community workplace safety and health program equipment requirements. 

Constable Program – The Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs provides funding to enhance 
equipment/vehicles in support of the Constable Program. 

Community Clerk Workshop – The Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs provides funding to 
support training and development of the Community Administrative Officers and support staff. 

Water Operator Certification – The Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs provides funding for 
community water/wastewater plant operator certification. 

Incorporation – The Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs provides funding for community 
development on incorporation under The Northern Affairs Act. 

Water Treatment Plant Assessments – The Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs provides 
funding of engineering assessments on all water treatment plants within Aboriginal and Northern Affairs 
jurisdiction to meet legislated requirements. 

Surveys – The Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs provides funding to conduct land surveys 
within the communities. 

Resource Management Boards – The Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs provides funding to 
resource management boards for land use planning activities. 

Resource Management Boards Wildlife Projects – The Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs 
provides funding for wildlife projects under the resource management boards for polar bear and caribou 
activities. 

Hollow Water Waste Disposal Site – Communities in the Aboriginal and Northern Affairs jurisdiction 
provide funding for the operations and maintenance for a regional waste disposal site for Hollow Water, 
Manigotagan, Bissett, Aghaming and Seymourville. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d) 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2016 

911 Emergency Services - The Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs provides support to 
implement the 911 emergency response systems in Aboriginal and Northern Affairs Communities. 

North Central Summer Students – The Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs provides funding 
to support the employment equity program. Aboriginal students are hired to support the program in the 
analytical, municipal and technical areas. 

Department of Municipal Government: 

Municipal Programs Grant – The Department of Municipal Government provides unconditional funding 
to support municipal services. 

Department of Finance: 

General Assistance Grant – The Department of Finance provides funding through the distribution of tax 
revenue on a per capita basis (based on the most recent census) to support municipal services. 

Department of Jobs and Economy: 

Building Independence Program – The Department of Jobs and Economy provides funding to support a 
program directed at providing work experience for recipients of social assistance living in Aboriginal and 
Northern Affairs communities. 

Federal Government: 

Federal Gas Tax – Funds provided through the Department of Municipal Government to support 
community infrastructure projects within the jurisdiction of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs. 

Cottage Subdivision Funds: 

Northern Affairs Levy – Funds levied to provide municipal services to unassessed cottage properties 
within the Aboriginal and Northern Affairs jurisdiction. 

Manitoba Hydro:

Nelson River Archaeological Survey – Manitoba Hydro provides funding to support archaeological
investigation in areas of historical and cultural importance, which has been impacted by hydro-electric 
development. 

Pimichikamak Archaeological Project – Manitoba Hydro provides funding to prepare a plan for an 
archaeological survey at Sipiwisk Lake.

SWAP 2006 – Manitoba Hydro provides funding to support the system-wide archaeological project.

Specific Purpose – Various:

Nelson House Claims Account – Manitoba Hydro and the Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs 
provide funding for the Nelson House Community Settlement Agreement.
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Sturgeon Management Program – Manitoba Hydro and the Department of Aboriginal and Northern 
Affairs provide funding for the operation of the Sturgeon Management Board. 

Winnipegosis Lake Water Study – The Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs provides funding to 
assist in the evaluations of various types of organic compounds in the water source and their removal to 
improve overall quality of water and health in the region. 

Cross Lake Negotiations – The Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs provides funding to 
undertake research, community consultations and provide advice and recommendations regarding the 
implementation of the Northern Flood Agreement. 

Northern Healthy Foods Initiative – The Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs in partnership in 
MAFRI and Healthy Living and Healthy Child Manitoba provide funding to assist northern communities 
with their food self-sufficiency projects. 

OPCN/CUFMA – The Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs had completed a multi-year Capital 
Upgrading Funding Management Agreement (CUFMA) to support the conversion of South Indian Lake to a 
federal reserve for the O-Pipon-Na-Piwin Cree Nation (OPCN) in 2013/14 and continued to provide 
funding to support the implementation of the reserve conversion. 

Treaty Land Entitlement – The Federal Government provides funding for photogrammetric land surveys 
to support and expedite the Treaty Land Entitlement process. 

MMF Historical Research/Tripartite – The Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs has an 
agreement with the Government of Canada and the Manitoba Metis Federation to provide funding for 
this historical research project, an initiative under the Manitoba Metis Policy. 

Consultation Unit – The Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs provides funding to assist with the 
Crown-Aboriginal consultation process. 

Property Tax Enhancement – The Taxation Fund Account transfers any cash in excess of $100,100 as at 
March 31, 2016 as a contribution to remote communities. In addition, other governmental departments 
and organizations provide funding to enhance community programs. 

10. Interfund Transfers 

A maximum cash balance of $100,100 is retained in the Taxation Fund Account as at March 31 of each 
year to cover current needs. Cash in excess of $100,100 is transferred from the Taxation Fund Account to 
the Specific Purpose Funds Account as a contribution to costs incurred by the fund in providing services 
in remote areas which do not have a local government to provide these services. The amount of excess at 
March 31, 2016 was $78,174 (2015 -$9,807). 

The transfer of $78,174 from the Taxation Fund Account to the Specific Purpose Funds Account is excluded 
from accounts receivable & accounts payable on the Statement of Financial Position and revenue & 
expenses on the Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus. 
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11. Community Council Funds Revenue 

Community Council Funds revenue includes the following: 
2016 2015 

Province of Manitoba, Department of Aboriginal and Northern 
Affairs 

$11,616,573 $12,380,742 

Locally generated revenue 4,930 3,659 

Municipal tax collections transferred from Taxation Fund Account 286,913 406,985 

Department of Agriculture, Food and Rural Initiatives, hay and 
grazing rental transferred from Taxation Fund Account 

25,008 23,441 

$11,933,424 $12,814,827 

12. Public Sector Compensation DisclosureAct 

In accordance to the Public Sector Compensation Disclosure Act the Northern Affairs Fund shall disclose 
to the public an amount of compensation it pays or provides in the fiscal year to any member of council, 
officer or employee of the communities if the amount paid is $50,000 or more annually. For the year ended 
March 31, 2016: 

a) There were no members of council, officers or employees of the communities receiving
compensation of $50,000 or moreindividually.

b) The aggregate compensation paid to all communities was $13,110 in 2016 and $14,490 in 2015 as 
follow: 

Community 2016 2015 
Aghaming $1,380 $1,380 
Baden 1,380 1,380 
Granville Lake 1,380 1,380 
Herb Lake Landing 1,380 1,380 
Loon Straits 1,380 1,380 
National Mills - 1,380 
Powell 1,380 1,380 
Princess Harbour 1,380 1,380 
Red Deer Lake 1,380 1,380 
Red Sucker Lake 1,380 1,380 
Salt Point 690 690 

$13,110 $14,490 

13. Related Party Transactions 

The Northern Affairs Fund is related to all Province of Manitoba created Departments, Agencies, Crown 
Corporations and Community Councils. The Northern Affairs Fund enters into transactions with these 
entities in the normal course of operations and they are measured at the exchange amount which is the 
amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. 
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14. Financial Risk Management 

The Northern Affairs Fund has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: liquidity 
risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and currency risk. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk arises from the possibility of the Northern Affairs Fund having insufficient financial resources 
to meet its financial obligations when they come due. 

The Northern Affairs Fund mitigates this risk through cash management. The Northern Affairs Fund 
continuously monitors and reviews both actual and forecasted cash flows through periodic financial 
reporting. Accounts payable are typically paid when due or in the case of loans payable – Province of 
Manitoba are repaid in accordance with a schedule over the term to maturity. 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to cash and cash
equivalents and loans payable – Province of Manitoba.

The interest rate risk on cash and cash equivalents is considered low due to their short-term nature.
The Northern Affairs Fund is exposed to interest rate risk on its loans payable – Province of Manitoba
which carries specific rates of interest. A 1% increase in interest rates would have an effect of $269,611
and increase expenditures.
However, the interest rate risk on loans payable – Province of Manitoba is low because the rate is fixed
for the term to maturity and the Province of Manitoba is funding all required interest payments. 
Therefore, revenue of the Community Capital Support Funds would also be increased by 269,611.

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes 
financial loss to the counter-party. The financial instruments that potentially subject the Northern Affairs 
Fund to credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable – Province of 
Manitoba. 

The maximum exposure of Northern Affairs Fund to credit risk at March 31st is: 

2016 
(Restated, Note 15)

2015 
Cash and Cash Equivalents (Note 3) $14,554,846 $13,447,428 
Accounts Receivable – Province of Manitoba 
(Specific Purpose Funds) (Note 4) 307,786 832,180 
Other Receivables – Province of Manitoba (Note 5) 35,223 38,092 

$14,897,855 $14,317,700 

Cash in bank: The Northern Affairs Fund is not exposed to significant risk as the cash in bank is held with
a large Canadian financial institution.
Cash equivalents: The Northern Affairs Fund is not exposed to significant risks as the deposits are held
within the Province of Manitoba’s Trust account.
Accounts Receivable and Other Receivables – Province of Manitoba: The Northern Affairs Fund is not
exposed to significant risk as the receivable is from the Province of Manitoba.
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Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign currency rates. The Northern Affairs Fund is not exposed to significant 
foreign currency risk as it does not have any financial instruments denominated in foreign currency. 

15. Correction of an Error 

Cash and Cash Equivalent and Accounts Payable: During the year it was determined that cash and cash 
equivalents and accounts payable as previously reported were understated. Therefore, an adjustment 
was made to the prior period’s financial statements. This change was done to recognize the amount of 
invested funds on behalf of and payable to the communities. This change resulted in an increase of the 
amount Cash and Cash Equivalent of $1,178,857 in 2015, with an offsetting increase to Accounts Payable 
by the same amount. This represents a net neutral impact on the statement of the financial position. The 
financial statement of 2016 has been adjusted accordingly. 

Construction in Progress: Adjustments were made to the opening accumulated deficit to recognize the 
expense of completed Loan Act capital projects that were not accounted for as transferred to the 
communities from Construction in Progress in prior years. This change resulted in an increase of 
$2,119,923 in accumulated deficit at the beginning of 2015 and an increase of $4,930,374 in-year 
(Aboriginal and Northern Communities) expenses in 2015, with an offsetting adjustment to Construction 
in Progress by the same amount. These adjustments resulted in a total change to opening accumulated 
deficit for the trust fund at the beginning of year 2016 of $7,050,297. 
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February 10, 2021 

NORTHERN AFFAIRS FUND 

MANAGEMENT REPORT 

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of management and have 
been prepared in accordance with the Canadian public sector accounting standards as 
stated in the notes to the financial statements. In management’s opinion, the financial 
statements have been properly prepared within reasonable limits of materiality, 
incorporating management’s best judgement regarding all necessary estimates and all 
other data available. 

Management maintains internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that the 
financial information is reliable and accurate, and that the assets of the Fund are 
properly safeguarded. 

The responsibility of the Auditor General for Manitoba is to express an independent 
professional opinion as to whether the financial statements are presented fairly in all 
material respects. 

The Executive Financial Officer has reviewed and approved these financial statements. 

On Behalf of Management 

Original signed by Mike Sosiak 

Mr. Mike Sosiak 
Executive Financial Officer 
Department of Indigenous and Northern Relations 



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Minister of Indigenous and Northern Relations 
To the Legislative Assembly of Manitoba 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Northern Affairs Fund, which comprise the statement 
of financial position as at March 31, 2017, and the statements of operations and accumulated deficit, change in net 
debt and cash flow for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
Canadian public sector accounting standards and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Northern 
Affairs Fund as at March 31, 2017, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended, in 
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

Original signed by 

Office of the Auditor General 
February 6, 2021 
Winnipeg, Manitoba 

Office: 204. 945.3790 | 500-330 Portage Avenue | Winnipeg, Manitoba R3C 0C4 | oag.mb.ca 
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NORTHERN AFFAIRS FUND 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at March 31, 2017 

2017 2016

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 3) $ 16,020,058 $ 14,554,846

Accounts receivable (Notes 4, 5, 10) 1,875,080 1,906,547

Total Financial Assets 17,895,138 16,461,393

Liabilities

Accounts payable (Notes 6, 10) 3,017,436 2,278,910

Loans payable (Note 7) 30,161,988 26,961,070

Total Liabilities 33,179,424 29,239,980

Net Debt (15,284,286) (12,778,587)

Non Financial Assets

Construction in progress (Note 8) 4,569,487 2,848,290

Total Non Financial Assets 4,569,487 2,848,290

Accumulated Operating Deficit $ (10,714,799) $ (9,930,297)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NORTHERN AFFAIRS FUND 
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND ACCUMULATED DEFICIT 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2017 

2017 2016

Revenues (Sch 1, SPF)
Indigenous and Northern Communities $ 12,555,789 $ 12,545,228
Cottage Administration Fees 27,625 22,578
Indigenous and Northern Affairs 671,135 686,246
Municipal Relations 148,368 148,368
Department of Finance 2,869,310 2,869,309
Department of Families 45,600 45,796
Federal Gas Tax 496,662 471,818
Cottage Subdivision Funds 610,932 568,487
Manitoba Hydro 100,000
Specific Purpose Various 290,191 291,525
Tax Revenue (Sch 2, NTRA) 2,403,050 2,385,584
Total Revenue 20,118,662 20,134,939

Expenses (Sch 1, SPF)
Indigenous and Northern Communities 13,256,615 16,729,644
Cottage Administration Fees 34,729 20,697
Indigenous and Northern Affairs 1,049,948 787,982
Municipal Relations 132,311 132,311
Department of Finance 2,794,682 2,794,682
Department of Families 24,185 43,472
Federal Gas Tax 7,157
Cottage Subdivision Funds 648,573 482,652
Manitoba Hydro 111,459 188,319
Specific Purpose Various 480,853 472,242
Tax Administered Expenses (Sch 2, NTRA) 2,362,652 2,170,907
Total Expenses 20,903,164 23,822,908

Annual Deficit (784,502) (3,687,969)

Accumulated Operating Deficit, Beginning of Year (9,930,297) (6,242,328)

Accumulated Operating Deficit, End of Year $ ( 10,714,799) $ (9,930,297)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NORTHERN AFFAIRS FUND 
STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN NET DEBT 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2017 

2017 2016

Annual Deficit $ (784,502) $ (3,687,969)

Non Financial Assets

New construction costs (Note 8) (2,849,726) (2,940,907)

Closed projects (Note 8) 1,128,529 4,214,934

(1,721,197) 1,274,027

Increase in Net Debt (2,505,699) (2,413,942)

Net Debt, Beginning of Year (12,778,587) (10,364,645)

Net Debt, End of Year $ (15,284,286) $ (12,778,587)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



INFORMATION PROVIDED UNDER STATUTORY REQUIREMENT 163 

NORTHERN AFFAIRS FUND 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2017 

2017 2016

Operating Activities

Annual Deficit $ (784,502) $ (3,687,969)
Change in:

Accounts receivable 31,467 388,034
Accounts payable 738,526 (374,887)

Cash used in operating activities (14,509) (3,674,822)

Capital Activities

Increase (decrease) in construction in progress (1,721,197) 1,274,027

Cash provided by (used in) capital activities (1,721,197) 1,274,027

Financing Activities

Increase in loans payable 3,200,918 3,508,213

Cash provided by financial transactions 3,200,918 3,508,213

Increase in Cash 1,465,212 1,107,418

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 14,554,846 13,447,428

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year (Note 3) $ 16,020,058 $ 14,554,846

Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Interest Received 196,743 181,636
Interest Paid 952,210 763,252

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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SCHEDULE 1 
NORTHERN AFFAIRS FUND 
SPECIFIC PURPOSE FUNDS AND ACCUMULATED DEFICIT 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2017 

Balance
31 Mar 2016

Revenue Expense
SPF

Transfers

Transfer from
Taxation Fund

Account (Note 10)

Balance
31 Mar 2017

Indigenous and Northern Communities
Community Council Funds (Note 11) $ (17,785,181) $ 11,803,120 $ 12,235,027 $ 35,256 $ (18,181,832)
Community Capital Support (665,819) 752,669 1,021,588 (934,738)

(18,451,000) 12,555,789 13,256,615 35,256 (19,116,570)

Cottage Administration Fees 86,287 27,625 34,729 79,183

Indigenous and Northern Affairs
Department Revenue/Transfer Payments 563,647 563,647
RBC Payment Distribution 1,165 200 1,338 27
Firefighters Insurance 82,018 (82,018)
Fire Inspections 40,710 (40,710)
CDO Pilot Project 64,208 31,810 (32,398)
Winnipegosis Lake Water Study 77,500 22,200 99,700
Fire Trucks and Equipment 134,247 (134,247)
Fire Training 70,262 111,163 256,976 216,075
Sturgeon Landing Road 20,788 24,705 4,726 40,767
Northern Youth Empowerment Initiative 84,956 (84,956)
Community Ergonomics 22,930 1,380 21,550
Northern Ministers Development Forum 148,071 78,000 70,071
Workplace Safety and Health Training 1,263 1,263
Workplace Safety and Health Equipment 850 (850)
Constable Program 25,691 25,691
Community Clerk Workshop 18,420 542 3,478 33,373 48,857
Water Operator Certification 17,607 17,607
Incorporation 285,253 (285,253)
Water Treatment Plant Assessments 37,564 37,564
Surveys 10,249 10,249
Resource Management Boards 142,108 56,023 86,085
Resource Management Boards Wildlife Projects 21,711 9,781 11,930
Hollow Water Waste Disposal Site 60,866 59,384 56,638 63,612
911 Emergency Services 57,423 (9,199) 48,224
North Central Summer Students 6,242 6,116 (126)
Bluff Road 457 457

1,432,102 671,135 1,049,948 (379,408) 673,881
Municipal Relations
Municipal Program Grant 148,368 132,311 (16,057)

Department of Finance
General Assistance Grant 327,660 2,869,310 2,794,682 402,288

Department of Families
Building Independence Program 2,264 45,600 24,185 23,679

Federal Gas Tax 3,097,868 496,662 7,157 3,587,373

Cottage Subdivision Funds
Northern Affairs Levy 803,499 610,932 648,573 765,858

Manitoba Hydro
Nelson River Archaeological Survey 9,193 9,188 5
Pimichikamak Archaeological Project 194,269 52,290 141,979
SWAP 2006 99,347 49,981 49,366

302,809 111,459 191,350
Specific Purpose Various
Nelson House Claims Account 11,564 68 11,632
Sturgeon Management Program 36,127 207,200 232,803 10,524
Cross Lake Negotiations 6,965 73,372 80,337
Northern Healthy Foods Initiative 13,005 2,782 13,204 2,583
Treaty Land Entitlement 224,426 49,563 174,863
OPCN/CUFMA 151,394 11,926 139,468
MMF Historical Research/Tripartite 55,593 4,245 51,348
Consultation Unit 45,163 21,551 23,612
Property Tax Enhancement (Note 10) 225,016 6,769 67,224 360,209 107,207 631,977

769,253 290,191 480,853 360,209 107,207 1,046,007

Accumulated Deficit $ (11,629,258) $ 17,715,612 $ 18,540,512 $ 107,207 $ (12,346,951)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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SCHEDULE 2 
NORTHERN AFFAIRS FUND 
NET TAX REVENUES ADMINISTERED AND ACCUMULATED SURPLUS 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2017 

2017 2016

Tax Revenues

Taxation levies $ 1,467,926 $ 1,463,624

Grants in lieu of taxes 696,883 701,003

Tax penalties 174,519 157,194

Rentals Hay and Grazing 62,024 62,943

Other 1,698 820

Total Tax Revenues 2,403,050 2,385,584

Administered Expenses

Frontier School Division special levy 1,049,441 1,069,990

Public Schools Finance Board – education support levy 460,427 474,424

Municipal levy 608,181 338,239

Hay and Grazing leases 23,980 25,008

Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations 52,537 50,916

Budgeted allowance for doubtful accounts 163,676 205,281

Other 4,410 7,049

Total Administered Expenses 2,362,652 2,170,907

Net Tax Revenue Administered 40,398 214,677

Accumulated Surplus at Beginning of Year 1,698,961 1,562,458

Transfer to Specific Purpose Funds Account (Note 10) (107,207) (78,174)

Accumulated Surplus at End of Year $ 1,632,152 $ 1,698,961

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NORTHERN AFFAIRS FUND 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2017 

1. Purpose of the Fund

The purpose of the Northern Affairs Fund (the Fund) is to administer trust funds on behalf of the designated
communities and administer the property tax system within the jurisdiction of the Department of Indigenous
and Municipal Relations (as of the audit report date they report to the Department of Indigenous and
Northern Relations) in compliance with The Northern AffairsAct.

a) Specific Purpose Funds Account

Used to account for all monies advanced to the Minister of Indigenous and Municipal Relations to provide
financial services to community councils in northern areas of Manitoba.

b) Taxation Fund Account

Levies property and business taxes based on real property assessments and remits the tax requirements to
school divisions and The Public Schools Finance Board. Taxes collected for local purposes in the communities
are remitted to the community councils when collected.

2. Summary of Significant AccountingPolicies

a) Basis of Accounting

The financial statements of the Fund are prepared by management in accordance with Canadian Public
Sector Accounting Standards established by the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) of the Chartered
Professional Accountants of Canada.

b) Revenues and Expenses

Revenue and expenses are recognized in the period in which the transaction or events occurred. Revenue and
expenses are recorded on an accrual basis, except when the accruals cannot be determined with a
reasonable degree of certainty or when their estimation is impractical.

Interest revenue earned on short term deposits is recognized in the period in which the transaction occurred
and recorded on an accrual basis.

c) Government Transfers

Government transfers are recognized in the Fund’s financial statements as expenses or revenues in the
period that the events giving rise to the transfer occurred as long as the transfer is authorized, eligibility
criteria, if any, have been met by the recipient, and a reasonable estimate of the amount can be made.

d) Construction in Progress

Construction in Progress represents purchased or constructed assets and is recorded at cost. When the asset
is ready to be put into use for the community, the asset is authorized as completed and the project is closed.
Subsequently the closed project/asset is transferred to the community by clearing through the Community
Council Funds specific purpose account.
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NORTHERN AFFAIRS FUND
Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)
For the Year Ended March 31, 2017

e) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash and short term deposits with maturities of three months or less
from the deposit date and are held for meeting short term commitments rather than for investing.

f) Financial Instruments

Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories; (a) fair value; or (b) cost or
amortized cost. Financial instruments including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and other
receivables – Province of Manitoba, accounts payable and loans payable – Province of Manitoba are recorded
at cost.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recorded in accumulated surplus as re
measurement gains and losses until recognized. Upon disposition of the financial instruments, the
cumulative re measurement gains and losses are reclassified to the Statement of Operations and
Accumulated Deficit.

As at March 31, 2017, the Fund does not have any financial instruments measured at fair value. Gains and
losses on financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in the Statement of
Operations and Accumulated Deficit in the period the gain or loss occurs.

The Fund did not incur any re measurement gains and losses during the year ended March 31, 2017.

g) Allowance for Uncollectible Taxes and Grants in Lieu of Taxes

The allowance for uncollectible taxes and grants in lieu of taxes consists of tax cancellations relating to
specific tax rolls and an estimate of uncollectible accounts based on the history of tax collections.

h) Measurement Uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and contingent
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during
the reporting period. Actual results could differ from management’s best estimate as additional information
becomes available in the future.

i) Administrative Support

The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides administrative services at no charge to the
Fund. The cost of these services for the year ended March 31, 2017 is estimated to be $326,582 (2016
$283,359).

j) Budget

The statement of operations and accumulated surplus and the statement of change in net financial assets do
not present budgeted financial results due to the nature of the Northern Affairs Fund, which administers the
funds on behalf of designated communities.
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NORTHERN AFFAIRS FUND 
Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d) 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2017 

3. Cash and Cash Equivalents

2017 2016
Cash – Specific Purpose Funds $ 10,930,735 $ 9,275,841
Cash – Taxation Fund 100,200 178,374
Investments Payable to Communities 1,044,426 1,019,008
Cash Equivalents 3,944,697 4,081,623

$ 16,020,058 $ 14,554,846

Cash equivalents are 90 day callable deposits with an interest rate in range of 0.50% 0.57% and within the
Province of Manitoba trust account. Deposits are normally held to maturity, but if early withdrawal is
required the interest rates are applicable up to date of withdrawal.

4. Accounts Receivable

2017 2016
Accounts receivable Province of Manitoba
(Specific purpose fund) $ 343,130 $ 307,786
Accounts receivable Taxation Fund (Note 5) 1,531,950 1,598,761

$ 1,875,080 $ 1,906,547

5. Accounts Receivable Taxation Fund

2017 2016
Taxes Receivable, End of year $ 3,047,290 $ 2,953,244
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts (1,553,043) (1,389,706)
Total Net Taxes Receivable, End of Year 1,494,247 1,563,538
Other Receivables – Province of Manitoba 37,703 35,223

$ 1,531,950 $ 1,598,761

6. Accounts Payable

2017 2016
Accounts Payable Specific Purpose Funds

Accrued Liabilities $ 1,123,963 $ 507,232
Interest Payable 849,047 752,670

Invested Community/Reserves Payable 1,044,426 1,019,008
$ 3,017,436 $ 2,278,910
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NORTHERN AFFAIRS FUND
Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)
For the Year Ended March 31, 2017

7. Loans Payable

Payment of principal and interest is funded primarily by grants from the Province of Manitoba.

Loans from the Province of Manitoba include the following:
2017 2016

Province of Manitoba, interest 4.45%, repayable in
annual instalments plus interest until May 31, 2019
(Original draw November 30, 2009; $2,600,000)

$882,634 $1,152,140

Province of Manitoba, interest 4.45%, repayable in annual
instalments plus interest until May 31, 2019
(Original draw February 1, 2010; $1,950,000)

$657,002 $857,612

Province of Manitoba, interest 4.95%, repayable in annual
instalments plus interest until May 31, 2020
(Original draw May 11, 2010; $1,600,000)

$733,816 $896,161

Province of Manitoba, interest 4.00%, repayable in annual
instalments plus interest until May 31, 2025
(Original draw October 1, 2010; $4,100,000)

$2,674,603 $2,926,309

Province of Manitoba, interest 3.875%, repayable in annual
instalments plus interest until May 31, 2020
(Original draw March 31, 2011; $1,000,000)

$432,207 $530,373

Province of Manitoba, interest 3.00%, repayable in annual
instalments plus interest until May 31, 2022
(Original draw December 1, 2011; $2,000,000)

$1,153,886 $1,326,981

Province of Manitoba, interest 3.00%, repayable in annual
instalments plus interest until May 31, 2022
(Original draw March 31, 2012; $2,000,000)

$1,276,350 $1,467,814

Province of Manitoba, interest 4.25%, repayable in annual
instalments plus interest until May 31, 2034
(Original draw December 31, 2013; $6,000,000)

$5,599,018 $5,803,680

Province of Manitoba, interest 3.50%, repayable in annual
instalments plus interest until May 31, 2035
(Original draw December 31, 2014; $7,000,000)

$6,752,472 $7,000,000

Province of Manitoba, interest 3.75%, repayable in annual
instalments plus interest until May 31, 2036
(Original draw December 31, 2015; $5,000,000)

$5,000,000 $5,000,000

Province of Manitoba, interest 3.75%, repayable in annual
instalments plus interest until May 31, 2037
(Original draw December 31, 2016; $5,000,000)

$5,000,000

$ 30,161,988 $ 26,961,070
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Interest payable includes the following:

NORTHERN AFFAIRS FUND 
Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d) 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2017 

$ 1,152,140 – 305 days, 4.45% 32,713
$ 857,612 – 305 days, 4.45% 24,364
$ 896,161 – 305 days, 4.95% 30,253
$ 2,926,309 – 305 days, 4.00% 89,105
$ 530,373 – 305 days, 3.875% 13,949
$ 1,326,980 – 305 days, 3.00% 28,831
$ 1,467,814 – 305 days, 3.00% 31,891
$ 5,803,681 – 305 days, 4.25% 198,191
$ 7,000,000 – 305 days, 3.50% 196,839
$ 5,000,000 – 91 days, 3.75% 156,164
$ 5,000,000 – 305 days, 3.75% 46,747

$ 849,047

Loan Principal Interest
2017 $ 2,042,749 $ 1,040,840
2018 2,295,535 1,070,296
2019 2,385,714 980,118
2020 1,919,854 886,427
2021 1,667,193 813,666
Subsequent Years (from 2022) 19,850,943 5,893,679

$ 30,161,988 $ 10,685,026

8. Construction inProgress

2017 2016
Balance, Beginning of Year $ 2,848,290 $ 4,122,317
New Construction Costs 2,849,726 2,940,907
Closed Projects (1,128,529) (4,214,934)
Balance, End of Year $ 4,569,487 $ 2,848,290
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NORTHERN AFFAIRS FUND
Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)
For the Year Ended March 31, 2017

9. Northern Affairs Fund – Specific PurposeFunds

The Northern Affairs Fund administers the following Specific Purpose Funds:

Indigenous and Northern Affairs Communities:

Community Council Funds – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides funding to
support communities in the Indigenous and Northern Affairs jurisdiction for the operation, maintenance and
construction of their municipal infrastructure.

Community Capital Support – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides funding to
satisfy principal and interest due on loans payable to the Province of Manitoba (community capital funding
source).

Cottage Administration Fees:

Cottage Administration Fees – A portion of funds from the cottagers levy are set aside within the specific
purpose fund to provide administrative support to cottage areas.

Indigenous and Northern Affairs:

Departmental Revenue/Transfer Payments – Revenue received from a variety of sources by the Department
of Indigenous and Municipal Relations is transferred to the consolidated fund of the Province of Manitoba.

RBC Payment Distribution – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations covers the costs for
electronic bank transfer services for payroll cheques for communities and programs where funds are
administered in trust.

Firefighters Insurance The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides to community
volunteer firefighters basic loss of life, accident and sickness benefits while on duty or participating in
training. The Department provides this insurance at no cost to the community or volunteer firefighter
through the Volunteer Firemen’s Insurance Services (VFIS).

Fire Inspections The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations is responsible for completing
inspections in all communities as per the Fire Safety Inspections Regulation of The Fires Prevention and
Emergency Response Act.

CDO Pilot Project – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides funding to support
community based economic strategy development.

Winnipegosis Lake Water Study – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides funding to
assist in the evaluations of various types of organic compounds in the water source and their removal to
improve overall quality of water and health in the region.

Fire Trucks and Equipment – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations and community councils
provide funding to enhance equipment/fire trucks in support of the FireProgram.

Fire Training – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides funding for community fire
training requirements identified as a result of the Fire Program Review.
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NORTHERN AFFAIRS FUND 
Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d) 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2017 

Sturgeon Landing Road – The Department of IndigenousandMunicipalRelationsprovides funding to maintain the
Sturgeon Landing Road and recovers 50% of the costs from the Saskatchewan Provincial Government.

Northern Youth Empowerment Initiative – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides
funding and program support to youth focused programs or projects in Northern Manitoba.

Community Ergonomics – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations funding as per Workplace
Safety and Health Regulation 217/2006 to assist community councils with developing a Community
Ergonomic Plan (CEP).

Northern Ministers Development Forum – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations and other
provincial governments provide funding for a special project on Maximizing the Economic and Social Impacts
from Major Projects in theNorth.

Workplace Safety and Health Training – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides
funding for community workplace safety and health program training requirements.

Workplace Safety and Health Equipment – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides
funding for community workplace safety and health program equipment requirements.

Constable Program – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides funding to enhance
equipment/vehicles in support of the Constable Program.

Community Clerk Workshop – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides funding to
support training and development of the Community Administrative Officers and support staff.

Water Operator Certification – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides funding for
community water/wastewater plant operator certification.

Incorporation – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides funding for community
development on incorporation under The Northern Affairs Act.

Water Treatment Plant Assessments – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides
funding of engineering assessments on all water treatment plants within Indigenous and Northern Affairs
jurisdiction to meet legislated requirements.

Surveys – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides funding to conduct land surveys
within the communities.

Resource Management Boards – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides funding
to resource management boards for land use planning activities.

Resource Management Boards Wildlife Projects – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations
provides funding for wildlife projects under the resource management boards for polar bear and caribou
activities.

Hollow Water Waste Disposal Site – Communities in the Indigenous and Northern Affairs jurisdiction provide
funding for the operations and maintenance for a regional waste disposal site for Hollow Water,
Manigotagan, Bissett, Aghaming and Seymourville.
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NORTHERN AFFAIRS FUND
Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)
For the Year Ended March 31, 2017

911 Emergency Services The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides support to
implement the 911 emergency response systems in Indigenous and Northern Affairs Communities.

North Central Summer Students – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides funding
to support the employment equity program. Indigenous students are hired to support the program in the
analytical, municipal and technical areas.

Bluff Road – The Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs provides funding to maintain the Bluff Road.

Municipal Relations:

Municipal Programs Grant – The Municipal Relations Division of the Department of Indigenous and
Municipal Relations provides unconditional funding to support municipal services.

Department of Finance:

General Assistance Grant – The Department of Finance provides funding through the distribution of tax
revenue on a per capita basis (based on the most recent census) to support municipal services.

Department of Families:

Building Independence Program – The Department of Families provides funding to support a program
directed at providing work experience for recipients of social assistance living in Indigenous and Northern
Affairs communities.

Federal Government:

Federal Gas Tax – Funds provided through the Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations to support
community infrastructure projects within the jurisdiction of Indigenous and Northern Affairs.

Cottage Subdivision Funds:

Northern Affairs Levy – Funds levied to provide municipal services to unassessed cottage properties within
the Indigenous and Northern Affairs jurisdiction.

Manitoba Hydro:

Nelson River Archaeological Survey – Manitoba Hydro provides funding to support archaeological
investigation in areas of historical and cultural importance, which has been impacted by hydro electric
development.

Pimichikamak Archaeological Project – Manitoba Hydro provides funding to prepare a plan for an
archaeological survey at Sipiwisk Lake.

SWAP 2006 – Manitoba Hydro provides funding to support the system wide archaeological project.

Specific Purpose – Various:

Nelson House Claims Account – Manitoba Hydro and the Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations
provide funding for the Nelson House Community Settlement Agreement.
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NORTHERN AFFAIRS FUND 
Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d) 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2017 

Sturgeon Management Program – Manitoba Hydro and the Department of Indigenous and Municipal
Relations provide funding for the operation of the Sturgeon Management Board.

Cross Lake Negotiations – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides funding to
undertake research, community consultations and provide advice and recommendations regarding the
implementation of the Northern Flood Agreement.

Northern Healthy Foods Initiative – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations in partnership
in MAFRI and Healthy Living and Healthy Child Manitoba provide funding to assist northern communities
with their food self sufficiency projects.

OPCN/CUFMA – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations had completed a multi year Capital
Upgrading Funding Management Agreement (CUFMA) to support the conversion of South Indian Lake to a

federal reserve for the O Pipon Na Piwin Cree Nation (OPCN) in 2013/14 and continued to provide funding
to support the implementation of the reserve conversion.

Treaty Land Entitlement – The Federal Government provides funding for photogrammetric land surveys to
support and expedite the Treaty Land Entitlement process.

MMF Historical Research/Tripartite – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations has an
agreement with the Government of Canada and the Manitoba Metis Federation to provide funding for this
historical research project, an initiative under the Manitoba Metis Policy.

Consultation Unit – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides funding to assist with
the Crown Indigenous consultation process.

Property Tax Enhancement – The Taxation Fund Account transfers any cash in excess of $100,100 as at
March 31, 2017 as a contribution to remote communities. In addition, other governmental departments and
organizations provide funding to enhance community programs.

10. Interfund Transfers

A maximum cash balance of $100,100 is retained in the Taxation Fund Account as at March 31 of each year
to cover current needs. Cash in excess of $100,100 is transferred from the Taxation Fund Account to the
Specific Purpose Funds Account as a contribution to costs incurred by the fund in providing services in remote
areas which do not have a local government to provide these services. The amount of excess at March 31,
2017 was $107,207 (2016 $78,174). The transfer of $107,207 from the Taxation Fund Account to the Specific
Purpose Funds Account is excluded from accounts receivable & accounts payable on the Statement of
Financial Position and revenue & expenses on the Statement of Operations and Accumulated Deficit.
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NORTHERN AFFAIRS FUND
Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)
For the Year Ended March 31, 2017

11. Community Council Funds Revenue

Community Council Fund Revenue includes the following:
2017 2016

Province of Manitoba, Department of Indigenous and Municipal
Relations

$ 11,219,551 $ 11,616,623

Locally generated revenue 4,930
Municipal tax collections transferred from Taxation Fund Account 559,589 286,913
Department of Agriculture, Food and Rural Initiatives, hay and
grazing rental transferred from taxation Fund Account 23,980 25,008

$ 11,803,120 $ 11,933,474

12. Public Sector Compensation DisclosureAct

In accordance to the Public Sector Compensation Disclosure Act the Northern Affairs Fund shall disclose to
the public an amount of compensation it pays or provides in the fiscal year to any member of council, officer
or employee of the communities if the amount paid is $50,000 or more annually. For the year ended March
31, 2017:

a) There were no members of council, officers or employees of the communities receiving
compensation of $50,000 or moreindividually.

b) The aggregate compensation paid to all communities was $12,880 in 2017 and $13,110 in 2016 as
follow:

Community 2017 2016
Aghaming 1,265 1,380
Baden 1,380 1,380
Granville Lake 690 1,380
Herb Lake Landing 1,610 1,380
Loon straits 1,265 1,380
Powell 1,380 1,380
Princess Harbour 1,265 1,380
Red Deer Lake 1,380 1,380
Red Sucker Lake 1,265 1,380
Salt Point 1,380 690

$ 12,880 $ 13,110

13. Related Party Transactions

The Northern Affairs Fund is related to all Province of Manitoba created Departments, Agencies, Crown
Corporations and Community Councils. The Northern Affairs Fund enters into transactions with these entities
in the normal course of operations and they are measured at the exchange amount which is the amount of
consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.
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14. Financial RiskManagement

The Northern Affairs Fund has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: liquidity
risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and currency risk.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises from the possibility of the Northern Affairs Fund having insufficient financial resources to
meet its financial obligations when they comedue.

The Northern Affairs Fund mitigates this risk through cash management. The Northern Affairs Fund
continuously monitors and reviews both actual and forecasted cash flows through periodic financial
reporting. Accounts payable are typically paid when due or in the case of loans payable – Province of
Manitoba are repaid in accordance with a schedule over the term to maturity.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to cash and cash equivalents
and loans payable – Province of Manitoba.

The interest rate risk on cash and cash equivalents is considered low due to their short term nature.
The Northern Affairs Fund is exposed to interest rate risk on its loans payable – Province of Manitoba which
carries specific rates of interest. A 1% increase in interest rates would have an effect of $301,620 and increase
expenditures.

However, the interest rate risk on loans payable – Province of Manitoba is low because the rate is fixed for
the term to maturity and the Province of Manitoba is funding all required interest payments. Therefore,
revenue of the Community Capital Support Funds would also be increased by $301,620.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes
financial loss to the counter party. The financial instruments that potentially subject the Northern Affairs
Fund to credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable – Province of
Manitoba.

The maximum exposure of Northern Affairs Fund to credit risk at March 31st is:
2017 2016

Cash and Cash equivalent (Note 3) $ 16,020,058 $ 14,554,846
Account Receivable Province of Manitoba
(Specific Purpose Fund) (Note 4) 343,130 307,786
Other Receivables Province of Manitoba (Note 5) 37,703 35,223

$ 16,400,891 $ 14,897,855

Cash in bank: The Northern Affairs Fund is not exposed to significant risk as the cash in bank is held with a
large Canadian financial institution.
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Cash equivalents: The Northern Affairs Fund is not exposed to significant risks as the deposits are held within
the Province of Manitoba’s Trust account.

Accounts Receivable and Other Receivables – Province of Manitoba: The Northern Affairs Fund is not exposed
to significant risk as the receivable is from the Province of Manitoba.

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in foreign currency rates. The Northern Affairs Fund is not exposed to significant foreign currency
risk as it does not have any financial instruments denominated in foreign currency.

15. Comparative Figures

Comparative Figures for the year end March 31, 2016 have been reclassified, where appropriate, to confirm
with the presentation adopted for the year end March 31, 2017.
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NORTHERN AFFAIRS FUND 

MANAGEMENT REPORT 

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of management and have 
been prepared in accordance with the Canadian public sector accounting standards as 
stated in the notes to the financial statements. In management’s opinion, the financial 
statements have been properly prepared within reasonable limits of materiality, 
incorporating management’s best judgement regarding all necessary estimates and all 
other data available. 

Management maintains internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that the 
financial information is reliable and accurate, and that the assets of the Fund are 
properly safeguarded. 

The responsibility of the Auditor General for Manitoba is to express an independent 
professional opinion as to whether the financial statements are presented fairly in all 
material respects. 

The Executive Financial Officer has reviewed and approved these financial statements. 

On Behalf of Management 

Original signed by Mike Sosiak 

Mr. Mike Sosiak 
Executive Financial Officer 
Department of Indigenous and Northern Relations 



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Minister of Indigenous Reconciliation and Northern Relations 
To the Legislative Assembly of Manitoba 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Northern Affairs Fund, which comprise the statement 
of financial position as at March 31, 2018, and the statement of operations and accumulated deficit, statement of 
change in net debt and statement of cash flow for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information. 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
Canadian public sector accounting standards and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Northern 
Affairs Fund as at March 31, 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended, in 
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

Original signed by 

Office of the Auditor General 
August 10, 2021 
Winnipeg, Manitoba 

Office: 204. 945.3790 | 500-330 Portage Avenue | Winnipeg, Manitoba R3C 0C4 | oag.mb.ca
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As at March 31, 2018 

2018 
Restated (Note 17) 

2017 

Financial Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 3) $ 14,027,961 $   16,020,058 

Accounts receivable (Notes 4, 5, 10) 2,137,038 1,961,556 

Total Financial Assets 16,164,999 17,981,614 

Liabilities 

Accounts payable (Notes 6, 10) 2,967,757 3,017,436 

Loans payable (Note 7) 28,119,239 30,161,988 

Total Liabilities 31,086,996 33,179,424 

Net Debt (14,921,997) (15,197,810) 

Non-Financial Assets 

Construction in progress (Note 8) 3,868,888 4,569,487 

Total Non-Financial Assets 3,868,888 4,569,487 

Accumulated Deficit $ (11,053,109) $ (10,628,323) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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2018 

Restated (Note 17) 

2017 

Revenues (Sch 1, SPF) 
Indigenous and Northern Communities $ 11,966,079 $  12,555,789 
Cottage Administration Fees 27,938 27,625 
Indigenous and Northern Affairs 501,346 671,135 
Municipal Relations 2,883,005 3,017,678 
Department of Families 18,200 45,600 
Federal Gas Tax 507,051 496,662 
Cottage Subdivision Funds 656,603 610,932 
Manitoba Hydro - -
Specific Purpose - Various 163,139 290,191 
Tax Revenue (Sch 2, NTRA) 2,478,501 2,403,050 
Total Revenue 19,201,862 20,118,662 

Expenses (Sch 1, SPF) 
Indigenous and Northern Communities 13,176,735 13,256,615 
Cottage Administration Fees 34,970 34,729 
Indigenous and Northern Affairs 513,879 1,049,948 
Municipal Relations 2,796,803 2,926,993 
Department of Families 38,100 24,185 
Federal Gas Tax 49,934 7,157 
Cottage Subdivision Funds 516,851 648,573 
Manitoba Hydro 82,155 111,459 
Specific Purpose - Various 161,996 480,853 
Tax Administered Expenses (Sch 2, NTRA) 2,255,225 2,276,176 
Total Expenses 19,626,648 20,816,688 

Annual Deficit (424,786) (698,026) 
Accumulated Surplus (Deficit) at Beginning of Year As 
previously reported (10,714,799) (9,930,297) 

Prior Period Adjustments (Note 17) 86,476 

Accumulated Surplus (Deficit), End of Year As Restated (10,628,323) (9,930,297) 

Accumulated Deficit, End of Year $ (11,053,109) $ (10,628,323) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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2018 
Restated (Note 17) 

2017 

Annual Deficit $ (424,786) $ (698,026) 

Non-Financial Assets 

New construction costs  (Note 8) 864,960 2,849,726 

Closed projects (Note 8) (1,565,559) (1,128,529) 

(700,599) 1,721,197

Decrease in Net Debt 275,813 (2,419,223) 

Net Financial Assets/(Debt), Beginning of Year As previously 
reported (15,284,286) (12,778,587) 

Prior Period Adjustments (Note 17) 86,476 

Net Financial Assets/(Debt), Beginning of Year As Restated (15,197,810) (12,778,587) 

Net Debt, End of Year $ (14,921,997) $ (15,197,810) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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For the Year Ended March 31, 2018 

2018 
Restated (Note 17) 

2017 

Operating Activities 

Annual Deficit $ (424,786) $ (698,026) 
Change in: 

Accounts receivable (175,482) (55,009) 
Accounts payable (49,679) 738,526 

Cash used in operating activities (649,947) (14,509) 

Capital Activities 

Increase in construction in progress 700,599 (1,721,197) 

Cash provided by capital activities 700,599 (1,721,197) 

Financing Activities 

Increase in loans payable (2,042,749) 3,200,918 

Cash provided by financial transactions (2,042,749) 3,200,918 

Increase/(Decrease) in Cash (1,992,097) 1,465,212 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 16,020,058 14,554,846 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year (Note 3) $ 14,027,961 $ 16,020,058 

Supplemental Cash Flow Information 

Interest Received 226,326 202,568 
Interest Paid 1,040,841 952,210 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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NORTHERN AFFAIRS FUND 
SPECIFIC PURPOSE FUNDS AND ACCUMULATED DEFICIT 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2018 

Balance

31-Mar-17 

 SPF 
Transfers 
(Note 10) 

Transfer 
from 

Taxation 
Fund 

Account 
(Note 10) 

Revenue Expense Balance 

31-Mar-18 
Indigenous and Northern Communities 
Community Council Funds (Note 11 & 17) $ (18,267,523) $ 193,729 $ 10,925,238 $ 12,093,507 $ (19,242,063) 
Community Capital Support (Note 17) (849,047) 1,040,841 1,083,228 (891,434) 

(19,116,570) 193,729 - 11,966,079 13,176,735 (20,133,497) 

Cottage Administration Fees 79,183 27,938 34,970 72,151 
Indigenous and Northern Affairs 
Department Revenue/Transfer Payments - 440,303 440,303 -
RBC Payment Distribution 27 1,100 1,374 (247) 
Fire Training 216,075 - - 216,075 
Sturgeon Landing Road 40,767 671 1,251 40,187 
Community Ergonomics 21,550 - 994 20,556 
Northern Ministers Development Forum 70,071 - - 70,071 
Workplace Safety and Health Training 1,263 - - 1,263 
Community Clerk Workshop 48,857 - 25,000 23,857 
Water Operator Certification 17,607 - - 17,607 
Water Treatment Plant Assessments 37,564 - - 37,564 
Surveys 10,249 - - 10,249 
Resource Management Boards 86,085 - - 86,085 
Resource Management Boards Wildlife Projects 11,930 - 1,493 10,437 
Hollow Water Waste Disposal Site 63,612 59,272 43,464 79,420 
911 Emergency Services 48,224 - 48,224 

673,881 501,346 513,879 661,348 
Department of Municipal Relations 
General Assistance Grant 402,288 2,742,605 2,674,725 470,168 
Municipal Program Grant - (18,322) 140,400 122,078 -

402,288 (18,322) - 2,883,005 2,796,803 470,168 
Department of Finance 
Department of Families 
Building Independence Program 23,679 18,200 38,100 3,779 

Federal Gas Tax 3,587,373 507,051 49,934 4,044,490 
Cottage Subdivision Funds 
Northern Affairs Levy 765,858 656,603 516,851 905,610 
Manitoba Hydro 
Nelson River Archaeological Survey 5 (5) - - -
Pimichikamak Archaeological Project 141,979 42,364 - 82,155 102,188 
SWAP 2006 49,366 (42,364) - - 7,002 

191,350 (5) - - 82,155 109,190 
Specific Purpose - Various 
Nelson House Claims Account 11,632 90 - 11,722 
Sturgeon Management Program 10,524 156,280 156,659 10,145 
Northern Healthy Foods Initiative 2,583 - - 2,583 
Treaty Land Entitlement 174,863 - - 174,863 
OPCN-CUFMA Agreement 139,468 - - 139,468 
MMF Historical Research/Tripartite 51,348 - - 51,348 
Consultation Unit 23,612 - - 23,612 
Property Tax Enhancement (Note 10) 631,977 (175,402) 49,925 6,769 5,337 507,932 

1,046,007 (175,402) 49,925 163,139 161,996 921,673 

Accumulated Deficit $ (12,346,951) - $ 49,925 $ 16,723,361 $ 17,371,423 $ (12,945,088) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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SCHEDULE 2 
NORTHERN AFFAIRS FUND 
NET TAX REVENUES ADMINISTERED AND ACCUMULATED 
SURPLUS 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2018 

2018 
Restated (Note 17) 

2017 

Tax Revenues 

Taxation levies $ 1,527,356 $ 1,467,926 

Grants in lieu of taxes 693,034 696,883

Tax penalties 191,109 174,519

Rentals - Hay and Grazing 66,102 62,024

Other 900 1,698

2,478,501 2,403,050

 

 

 

 

Total Tax Revenues 

Administered Expenses 

Frontier School Division special levy 1,061,354 1,049,441 

Public Schools Finance Board – education support  levy 461,020 460,427 

Municipal levy 394,970 608,181 

Hay and Grazing leases 30,233 23,980 

Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations 52,639 52,537 

Budgeted allowance for doubtful accounts 251,683 77,200 

Other 3,326 4,410 

Total Administered Expenses 2,255,225 2,276,176 

Net Tax Revenue Administered 223,276 126,874 

Accumulated Surplus (Deficit) at Beginning of Year As 
previously reported 1,718,628 1,698,961 

Prior Period Adjustments (Note 17) 86,476 

Accumulated Surplus (Deficit), End of Year As 
Restated 

1,718,628 1,698,961 

Transfer to Specific Purpose Funds Account (Note 10) (49,925) (107,207) 

Accumulated Surplus at End of Year $ 1,891,979 $ 1,718,628 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2018 

1. Purpose of the Organization  

The purpose of the Northern Affairs Fund (the Fund) is to administer trust funds on behalf of the designated 
communities and administer the property tax system within the jurisdiction of the Department of Indigenous 
and Municipal Relations (as of the audit report date they report to the Department of Indigenous and 
Northern Relations) in compliance with The Northern Affairs Act. 

a) Specific Purpose Funds Account 

Used to account for all monies advanced to the Minister of Indigenous and Municipal Relations to provide 
financial services to community councils in northern areas of Manitoba. 

b) Taxation Fund Account 

Levies property and business taxes based on real property assessments and remits the tax requirements to 
school divisions and The Public Schools Finance Board. Taxes collected for local purposes in the communities 
are remitted to the community councils when collected. 

2. Summary of Significant AccountingPolicies 

a) Basis of Accounting 

The financial statements of the Fund are prepared by management in accordance with Canadian Public 
Sector Accounting Standards established by the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) of the Chartered 
Professional Accountants of Canada. 

b) Revenues and Expenses 

I. Revenue and expenses are recognized in the period in which the transaction or events occurred. 
Revenue and expenses are recorded on an accrual basis, except when the accruals cannot be 
determined with a reasonable degree of certainty or when their estimation is impractical. 

II. Interest revenue earned on short-term deposits is recognized in the period in which the transaction 
occurred and recorded on an accrual basis. 

III. Tax revenues from property tax assessments, including interest & penalties on overdue payments, 
are recorded in the year earned and are recorded net of the education property tax credit advance. 
Transfers made through the tax system are recorded as an expense.  Due to the timing differences 
between the entity’s fiscal year and the tax calendar year, receivables are accrued based on the tax 
assessments of the subsequent tax year. 

c) Government Transfers 

Government transfers are recognized in the Fund’s financial statements as expenses or revenues in the 
period that the events giving rise to the transfer occurred as long as the transfer is authorized, eligibility 
criteria, if any, have been met by the recipient, and a reasonable estimate of the amount can be made. 
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d) Construction in Progress 

Construction in Progress represents purchased or constructed assets and is recorded at cost. When the asset 
is ready to be put into use for the community, the asset is authorized as completed and the project is closed. 
Subsequently the closed project/asset is transferred to the community by clearing through the Community 
Council Funds specific purpose account. 

e) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash and short-term deposits with maturities of three months or less 
from the deposit date and are held for meeting short-term commitments rather than for investing. 

f) Financial Instruments 

Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories; (a) fair value; or (b) cost or 
amortized cost. Financial instruments including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and other 
receivables – Province of Manitoba, accounts payable and loans payable – Province of Manitoba are recorded 
at cost. 

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recorded in accumulated surplus as re-
measurement gains and losses until recognized. Upon disposition of the financial instruments, the 
cumulative re-measurement gains and losses are reclassified to the Statement of Operations and 
Accumulated Deficit. 

As at March 31, 2018, the Fund does not have any financial instruments measured at fair value. Gains and 
losses on financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in the Statement of 
Operations and Accumulated Deficit in the period the gain or loss occurs. 

The Fund did not incur any re-measurement gains and losses during the year ended March 31, 2018. 

g) Allowance for Uncollectible Taxes and Grants in Lieu ofTaxes 

The allowance for uncollectible taxes and grants in lieu of taxes consists of tax cancellations relating to 
specific tax rolls and an estimate of uncollectible accounts based on the history of tax collections. 

h) Measurement Uncertainty 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and contingent 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during 
the reporting period. Actual results could differ from management’s best estimate as additional information 
becomes available in the future. 

i) Administrative Support 

The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides administrative services at no charge to the 
Fund. The cost of these services for the year ended March 31, 2018 is estimated to be $ $311,054 (2017 
$326,582).  
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j) Budget 

The statement of operations and accumulated surplus and the statement of change in net financial assets do 
not present budgeted financial results due to the nature of the Northern Affairs Fund, which administers the 
funds on behalf of designated communities. 

3.  Cash and Cash Equivalents 
2018 2017 

Cash equivalents are 90 day callable deposits with an interest rate in range of 0.50%-0.57% and within the 
Province of Manitoba trust account. Deposits are normally held to maturity, but if early withdrawal is 
required the interest rates are applicable up to date of withdrawal. 

Cash – Specific Purpose Funds $ 9,070,324 $ 10,930,735
Cash – Taxation Fund 100,200 100,200
Investments Payable to Communities 925,779 1,044,426
Cash Equivalents 3,931,658 3,944,697

 $ 14,027,961 $ 16,020,058

4.  Accounts Receivable 
2018 2017 

Accounts receivable - Province of Manitoba 
(Specific purpose fund) $ 295,479 $ 343,130 
Accounts receivable - Taxation Fund (Note 5) 1,791,778 1,618,426 
Taxation Surplus Receivable 49,781 

$ 2,137,038 $ 1,961,556 

5.  Accounts Receivable-Taxation Fund 
2018 2017 

Taxes Receivable, End of year $   3,471,450 $   3,047,290 
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts (1,718,250) (1,553,043) 
Adjustment to the  Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 
(Note 17) 86,476 
Adjusted Allowance for Doubtful Accounts (1,718,250) (1,466,567) 
Total Net Taxes Receivable, End of Year 1,753,200 1,580,723 

Other Receivables – Province of Manitoba 38,578 37,703 
$   1,791,778 $   1,618,426 

6.  Accounts Payable 
2018 2017 

Accounts Payable - Specific Purpose Funds 
Accrued Liabilities $ 1,150,544 $ 1,123,963 
Interest Payable 891,434 849,047 

Invested Community /Reserves Payable 925,779 1,044,426 
Accounts Payable-Taxation Fund - -

$ 2,967,757 $  3,017,436 
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7.  Loans Payable 

Payment of principal and interest is funded primarily by grants from the Province of Manitoba. 

Loans from the Province of Manitoba include the following: 
2018 2017 

Province of Manitoba, interest 4.45%, repayable in 
annual instalments plus interest until May 31, 2019 
(Original draw November 30, 2009; $2,600,000) 

$601,135 $882,634 

Province of Manitoba, interest 4.45%, repayable in annual 
instalments plus interest until May 31, 2019 
(Original draw February 1, 2010; $1,950,000) 

$447,464 $657,002 

Province of Manitoba, interest 4.95%, repayable in annual 
instalments plus interest until May 31, 2020 
(Original draw May 11, 2010; $1,600,000) 

$563,435 $733,816 

Province of Manitoba, interest 4.00%, repayable in annual 
instalments plus interest until May 31, 2025 
(Original draw October 1, 2010; $4,100,000) 

$2,412,829 $2,674,603 

Province of Manitoba, interest 3.875%, repayable in annual 
instalments plus interest until May 31, 2020 
(Original draw March 31, 2011; $1,000,000) 

$330,237 $432,206 

Province of Manitoba, interest 3.00%, repayable in annual 
instalments plus interest until May 31, 2022 
(Original draw December 1, 2011; $2,000,000) 

$975,490 $1,153,886 

Province of Manitoba, interest 3.00%, repayable in annual 
instalments plus interest until May 31, 2022 
(Original draw March 31, 2012; $2,000,000) 

$1,079,020 $1,276,350 

Province of Manitoba, interest 4.25%, repayable in annual 
instalments plus interest until May 31, 2034 
(Original draw December 31, 2013; $6,000,000) 

$5,385,658 $5,599,018 

Province of Manitoba, interest 3.50%, repayable in annual 
instalments plus interest until May 31, 2035 
(Original draw December 31, 2014; $7,000,000) 

$6,496,281 $6,752,472 

Province of Manitoba, interest 3.75%, repayable in annual 
instalments plus interest until May 31, 2036 
(Original draw December 31, 2015; $5,000,000) 

$4,827,690 $5,000,000 

Province of Manitoba, interest 3.75%, repayable in annual 
instalments plus interest until May 31, 2037 
(Original draw December 31, 2016; $5,000,000) 

$5,000,000 $5,000,000 

$28,119,239 $ 30,161,988 
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Interest payable includes the following: 

$ 1,152,140 – 305 days, 4.45% 22,280 
$ 857,612 – 305 days, 4.45% 16,593 
$ 896,161 – 305 days, 4.95% 23,229 
$ 2,926,309 – 305 days, 4.00% 80,384 
$ 530,373 – 305 days, 3.875% 10,658 
$ 1,326,980 – 305 days, 3.00% 24,374 
$ 1,467,814 – 305 days, 3.00% 26,961  
$ 5,803,681 – 305 days, 4.25% 190,638  
$ 7,000,000 – 305 days, 3.50% 189,371 
$ 5,000,000 – 305 days, 3.75% 150,783 
$5,000,000 - 305 days, 3.75% 156,164 

$ $891,434 

Loan Principal Interest
2018 $ 2,295,535 $ 1,070,296 
2019 2,385,714 980,118 
2020 1,919,854 886,427 
2021 1,667,193 813,666 
2022 1,727,832 753,027 
Subsequent Years (from 2023) 18,123,111 5,140,652 

$   28,119,239 $  9,644,187 

8. Construction in Progress 
2018 2017 

Balance, Beginning of Year $  4,569,487 $ 2,848,290 
New Construction Costs 864,960 2,849,726 
Closed Projects (1,565,559) (1,128,529) 
Balance, End of Year $  3,868,888 $   4,569,487 

9. Northern Affairs Fund – Specific PurposeFunds 

The Northern Affairs Fund administers the following Specific Purpose Funds: 

Indigenous and Northern Affairs Communities: 

Community Council Funds – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides funding to 
support communities in the Indigenous and Northern Affairs jurisdiction for the operation, maintenance and 
construction of their municipal infrastructure. 

Community Capital Support – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides funding to 
satisfy principal and interest due on loans payable to the Province of Manitoba (community capital funding 
source). 
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Cottage Administration Fees: 

Cottage Administration Fees – A portion of funds from the cottagers levy are set aside within the specific 
purpose fund to provide administrative support to cottage areas. 

Indigenous and Northern Affairs: 

Departmental Revenue/Transfer Payments – Revenue received from a variety of sources by the Department 
of Indigenous and Municipal Relations is transferred to the consolidated fund of the Province of Manitoba. 

RBC Payment Distribution – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations covers the costs for 
electronic bank transfer services for payroll cheques for communities and programs where funds are 
administered in trust. 

Fire Training – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides funding for community fire 
training requirements identified as a result of the Fire Program Review. 

Sturgeon Landing Road – The Department of Indigenousand Municipal Relationsprovides funding to maintain the 
Sturgeon Landing Road and recovers 50% of the costs from the Saskatchewan Provincial Government. 

Community Ergonomics – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations funding as per Workplace 
Safety and Health Regulation 217/2006 to assist community councils with developing a Community 
Ergonomic Plan (CEP). 

Northern Consultation Board – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides funding to 
assist the Board with reviewing/addressing matters and providing recommendations concerning any 
proposals with respect to the incorporation process. 

Northern Ministers Development Forum – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations and other 
provincial governments provide funding for a special project on Maximizing the Economic and Social Impacts 
from Major Projects in theNorth. 

Workplace Safety and Health Training – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides 
funding for community workplace safety and health program training requirements. 

Workplace Safety and Health Equipment – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides 
funding for community workplace safety and health program equipment requirements. 

Community Clerk Workshop – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides funding to 
support training and development of the Community Administrative Officers and support staff. 

Water Operator Certification – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides funding for 
community water/wastewater plant operator certification. 

Water Treatment Plant Assessments – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides 
funding of engineering assessments on all water treatment plants within Indigenous and Northern Affairs 
jurisdiction to meet legislated requirements. 

Surveys – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides funding to conduct land surveys 
within the communities. 
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Resource Management Boards Wildlife Projects – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations 
provides funding for wildlife projects under the resource management boards for polar bear and caribou 
activities. 

Hollow Water Waste Disposal Site – Communities in the Indigenous and Northern Affairs jurisdiction provide 
funding for the operations and maintenance for a regional waste disposal site for Hollow Water, 
Manigotagan, Bissett, Aghaming and Seymourville. 

911 Emergency Services - The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides support to 
implement the 911 emergency response systems in Indigenous and Northern Affairs Communities. 

Municipal Relations: 

Municipal Programs Grant – The Municipal Relations Division of the Department of Indigenous and 
Municipal Relations provides unconditional funding to support municipal services. 

General Assistance Grant – The Department of Finance provides funding through the distribution of tax 
revenue on a per capita basis (based on the most recent census) to support municipal services. 

Department of Families: 

Building Independence Program – The Department of Families provides funding to support a program 
directed at providing work experience for recipients of social assistance living in Indigenous and Northern 
Affairs communities. 

Federal Government: 

Federal Gas Tax – Funds provided through the Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations to support 
community infrastructure projects within the jurisdiction of Indigenous and Northern Affairs. 

Cottage Subdivision Funds: 

Northern Affairs Levy – Funds levied to provide municipal services to unassessed cottage properties within 
the Indigenous and Northern Affairs jurisdiction. 

Manitoba Hydro: 

Nelson River Archaeological Survey – Manitoba Hydro provides funding to support archaeological 
investigation in areas of historical and cultural importance, which has been impacted by hydro-electric 
development. 

Pimichikamak Archaeological Project – Manitoba Hydro provides funding to prepare a plan for an 
archaeological survey at Sipiwisk Lake. 

SWAP 2006 – Manitoba Hydro provides funding to support the system-wide archaeological project. 

194 



INFORMATION PROVIDED UNDER STATUTORY REQUIREMENT

NORTHERN AFFAIRS FUND 
Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d) 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2018 

Specific Purpose – Various: 

Nelson House Claims Account – Manitoba Hydro and the Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations 
provide funding for the Nelson House Community Settlement Agreement. 

Sturgeon Management Program – Manitoba Hydro and the Department of Indigenous and Municipal 
Relations provide funding for the operation of the Sturgeon Management Board. 

Cross Lake Negotiations – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides funding to 
undertake research, community consultations and provide advice and recommendations regarding the 
implementation of the Northern Flood Agreement. 

Northern Healthy Foods Initiative – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations in partnership 
in MAFRI and Healthy Living and Healthy Child Manitoba provide funding to assist northern communities 
with their food self-sufficiency projects. 

Treaty Land Entitlement – The Federal Government provides funding for photogrammetric land surveys to 
support and expedite the Treaty Land Entitlement process. 

OPCN/CUFMA – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations had completed a multi-year Capital 
Upgrading Funding Management Agreement (CUFMA) to support the conversion of South Indian Lake to a 
federal reserve for the O-Pipon-Na-Piwin Cree Nation (OPCN) in 2013/14 and continued to provide funding 
to support the implementation of the reserve conversion. 

MMF Historical Research/Tripartite – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations has an 
agreement with the Government of Canada and the Manitoba Metis Federation to provide funding for this 
historical research project, an initiative under the Manitoba Metis Policy. 

Consultation Unit – The Department of Indigenous and Municipal Relations provides funding to assist with 
the Crown-Indigenous consultation process. 

Property Tax Enhancement – The Taxation Fund Account transfers any cash in excess of $100,100 as at 
March 31, 2018 as a contribution to remote communities. In addition, other governmental departments and 
organizations provide funding to enhance community programs. 

10. Inter-fund Transfers 

A maximum cash balance of $100,100 is retained in the Taxation Fund Account as at March 31 of each year 
to cover current needs. Cash in excess of $100,100 is transferred from the Taxation Fund Account to the 
Specific Purpose Funds Account as a contribution to costs incurred by the fund in providing services in remote 
areas which do not have a local government to provide these services. The amount of excess at March 31, 
2018 was $49,925 (2017 $107,207). The transfer of $49,925 from the Taxation Fund Account to the Specific 
Purpose Funds Account is excluded from accounts receivable & accounts payable on the Statement of 
Financial Position and revenue & expenses on the Statement of Operations and Accumulated Deficit. 
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11. Community Council Funds Revenue 

Community Council Fund Revenue includes the following: 
2018 2017 

Province of Manitoba, Department of Indigenous and Municipal 
Relations 

$ 10,564,694 $ 11,219,551 

Locally generated revenue 815 -

Municipal tax collections transferred from Taxation Fund Account 329,496 559,589 
Department of Agriculture, Food and Rural Initiatives, hay and 
grazing rental transferred from taxation Fund Account 30,233 23,980 

$ 10,925,238 $  11,803,120 

12. Public Sector Compensation DisclosureAct 

In accordance to the Public Sector Compensation Disclosure Act the Northern Affairs Fund shall disclose to 
the public an amount of compensation it pays or provides in the fiscal year to any member of council, officer 
or employee of the communities if the amount paid is $50,000 or more annually. For the year ended March 
31, 2018: 

a) There were no members of council, officers or employees of the communities receiving 
compensation of $50,000 or more individually. 

b) The aggregate compensation paid to all communities was $11,500 in 2018 and $12,880 in 2017 as 
follow: 

Community 2018 2017 
Aghaming 1,380 1,265 
Baden 1,380 1,380 
Granville Lake - 690 
Herb Lake Landing 1,035 1,610 
Loon Straits 1,380 1,265 
Powell 1,380 1,380 
Princess Harbour 1,380 1,265 
Red Deer Lake 1,380 1,380 
Red Sucker Lake 1,380 1,265 
Salt Point 805 1,380 

$  11,500 $ 12,880 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

13. Related Party Transactions 

The Minister of Indigenous and Northern Relations has control of the Northern Affairs Fund. Key 
management personnel and their close family members are related parties. They are identified as the 
Minister and Deputy Minister of Indigenous and Northern Relations, and their spouses, and any controlled 
business. 
Related party transactions are recorded at the exchange amount. Material transactions, in aggregate, or 
balances are disclosed separately. Indigenous and Northern Relations administrative provides services to the 
Northern Affairs Fund at no charge. The cost of these services include a portion of the salaries and benefits 
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of departmental staff and other expenses. Management has not estimated the cost of these services and 
these unallocated costs are not recognized in the financial statements. 

14. Contractual Obligations 

As part of operations, Indigenous and Northern Relations entered into agreements with Manitoba 
Sustainable Development (now Conservation and Climate) on October 25, 2016 to allow Indigenous and 
Northern Relations to access the Cuprus sewage lagoon for the disposal of wastewater and sewage 
generated from cottagers located in the Bakers Narrow area within Indigenous and Northern Relations’ 
jurisdiction. The agreement expires on October 31, 2026. Pursuant to the agreement, Indigenous and 
Northern Relations must pay a total of $414,373to Manitoba Conservation and Climate. Payments are made 
on monthly basis from the Northern Affairs Fund as customers pay their share of the fee. The full balance is 
due by October 31, 2026. 

15. Financial RiskManagement 

The Northern Affairs Fund has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: liquidity 
risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and currency risk. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk arises from the possibility of the Northern Affairs Fund having insufficient financial resources to 
meet its financial obligations when they come due. 

The Northern Affairs Fund mitigates this risk through cash management. The Northern Affairs Fund 
continuously monitors and reviews both actual and forecasted cash flows through periodic financial 
reporting. Accounts payable are typically paid when due or in the case of loans payable – Province of 
Manitoba are repaid in accordance with a schedule over the term to maturity. 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to cash and cash equivalents 
and loans payable – Province of Manitoba. 

The interest rate risk on cash and cash equivalents is considered low due to their short-term nature.
The Northern Affairs Fund is exposed to interest rate risk on its loans payable – Province of Manitoba which
carries specific rates of interest. A 1% increase in interest rates would have an effect of $281,192 and increase
expenditures.

However, the interest rate risk on loans payable – Province of Manitoba is low because the rate is fixed for 
the term to maturity and the Province of Manitoba is funding all required interest payments. Therefore, 
revenue of the Community Capital Support Funds would also be increased by $281,192. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes 
financial loss to the counter-party. The financial instruments that potentially subject the Northern Affairs 
Fund to credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable – Province of 
Manitoba. 
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The maximum exposure of Northern Affairs Fund to credit risk at March 31st is: 
2018 2017 

Cash and Cash equivalent (Note 3) $ 14,027,961 $ 16,020,058 
Account Receivable - Province of Manitoba 
(Specific Purpose Fund) (Note 4) 295,479 343,130 
Other Receivables - Province of Manitoba (Note 5) 38,578 37,703 

$ 14,362,018 $ 16,400,891  

Cash in bank: The Northern Affairs Fund is not exposed to significant risk as the cash in bank is held with a 
large Canadian financial institution. 

Cash equivalents: The Northern Affairs Fund is not exposed to significant risks as the deposits are held within 
the Province of Manitoba’s Trust account. 

Accounts Receivable and Other Receivables – Province of Manitoba: The Northern Affairs Fund is not exposed 
to significant risk as the receivable is from the Province of Manitoba. 

Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in foreign currency rates. The Northern Affairs Fund is not exposed to significant foreign currency 
risk as it does not have any financial instruments denominated in foreign currency. 

16. Comparative Figures 

Department of Municipal Relations revenues and expenses for 2017 have been re-stated in the Statement 
of Operations and Accumulated Surplus. Department of Municipal Relations provides both General 
Assistance Grant and the Municipal Grant. 

17. Restatement 

I. Capital Support Prior Period Adjustment 

At year-end revenue and expenses of the capital support interest need to be accrued as payments 
are made annually in the month of May. The accruals related to the ten month period of June to 
March was missed. 

Community Capital 
Support Interest 

Community Council 
Funds 

2017 Ending Balance as previously reported in Schedule-1 (934,738) (18,181,832) 
Prior Period Interest Adjustment 85,691 (85,691)

Adjusted Opening Balance for 2018 (10 months accrued
interest for 2017) (849,047) (18,267,523)

II. Allowance for doubtful account was restated due to miscalculation in 2017. 

The Allowance for Doubtful Accounts should be equal to the balance of unpaid taxes from five years 
prior. As at March 31, 2018, the Allowance for Doubtful Accounts should be the balance as of March 
31, 2013. 

198 



INFORMATION PROVIDED UNDER STATUTORY REQUIREMENT

NORTHERN AFFAIRS FUND 
Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d) 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2018 

The incorrect balances were used in 2017, resulting in an overstatement of the Allowance for 
Doubtful Accounts by $86,476, therefore an adjustment is required to reduce this account. 

Previously reported Allowance for Doubtful Accounts balance for 2017 $ 1,553,043 
Corrected Allowance for Doubtful Accounts balance for 2017 $ 1,466,567 

$ 86,476 
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